
Resources Directorate
DavidDavid  WilcockWilcock
AssistantAssistant  DirectorDirector  (Legal,(Legal,  GovernanceGovernance  &&  
Workforce)Workforce)

Governance  & Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith Street,
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Phone: 01706 647474
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk

To:  All Members of the Middleton Township 
Planning Sub Committee

Enquiries to: Caroline Denyer
Telephone: 01706 924711
Date: Tuesday, 28th June 2016

Dear Councillor

Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee

You are requested to attend the meeting of the Middleton Township Planning Sub 
Committee to be held in Middleton Library, Long Street, Middleton M24 1AF on 
Wednesday, 6th July 2016 commencing at 6.15 pm.

The agenda and supporting papers are attached. 

Members are invited to attend viewings of the sites:

4.00 Meet on site at 194 Heywood Old Road
4.20 Hanson Point, Hanson Close
4.40 Alderman Kay School, Tintern Road

If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or staff in the Governance and 
Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

Yours Faithfully

David Wilcock
Assistant Director (Legal, Governance & Workforce)

Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee Membership 2016/17
Councillor Andy Bell
Councillor Malcolm Boriss
Councillor Phil Burke
Councillor Sara Rowbotham
Councillor Susan Smith
Councillor June West
Councillor Donna Williams

Public Document Pack



Rochdale Borough Council

MIDDLETON TOWNSHIP PLANNING SUB COMMITTEE

Wednesday, 6th July 2016 at 6.15 pm

Middleton Library, Long Street, Middleton M24 1AF

A G E N D A

Apologies for Absence
1.  Declarations of Interest 1 - 3

Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in 
which they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give 
notice of their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached 
with this agenda.  

Members are also advised to take advice with regard to any matter 
where there is potential bias or predetermination in any business to 
be considered at the meeting and whether they should take part in 
decision making at the meeting.

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and the Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare 
the nature of any discloseable pecuniary interest; personal interest 
and/or prejudicial interest required of them and, in the case of any 
discloseable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest, withdraw from 
the meeting during consideration of the item, unless permitted 
otherwise within the Code of Conduct.

2.  Minutes 4 - 6

- To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Middleton 
Planning Sub-Committee held on 17th May 2016.

3.  Submitted Planning Applications 7 - 62

4.  Planning Appeals 



i) Notification that the following appeals have been lodged

 16/00210/FUL – 268 Manchester New Road - 
Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of new 
detached dwelling (South Middleton) – Delegated 
Decision

ii)  Notification that the following appeals have been dismissed

 None

i) Notification that the following appeals have been allowed

 15/01442/HOUS – 36 Wellens Way - Demolition of 
garage and erection of two storey side extension 
(South Middleton) – Delegated Decision



P
age 1

A
genda Item

 1



DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25TH JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS).

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE

MEETING AND DATE

…………………………….

Agenda item

Indicate either
 Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR
 Personal Interest OR
 Personal and Prejudicial interest

Nature of Interest

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name…………………………………………………………………………………………..

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 
LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE.

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING

P
age 2



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests.

Disclosable pecuniary interests
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners.

Subject Description
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.  

Contracts Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council - 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - 
(a) the landlord is the Council: and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where -
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and
(b) either –
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class.

Personal Interests
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect - 
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority;
(b)  any body -

(i) exercising functions of a public nature;
(ii) directed to charitable purposes; or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union), 
of which you are in a position of general control or management;
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25.

Prejudicial Interests
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business -
(a) Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or
 (b) Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above.

MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25TH JULY 2012.

Page 3



MIDDLETON TOWNSHIP PLANNING SUB COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday, 17th May 2016

PRESENT: Councillor June West (in the Chair) Councillors Bell, Boriss, 
Susan Emmott, Furlong, Rowbotham and West

OFFICERS: A Whittaker and C Woods (Neighbourhoods Directorate), D Ripa and M 
Woodward (Economy Directorate), C Swift (Children's Directorate) and C Denyer 
(Resources Directorate)

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  Councillor Neil Emmott, Councillor Martin and 6 Members 
of the public

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Burke

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
41 There were no declarations of interest.

MINUTES
42 DECIDED – that the Minutes of the meetings of the Middleton Township 
Planning Sub-Committee held on 25th February, 23rd March and the 13th April 
2016 be approved as a correct record.

TWO STOREY CLASSROOM EXTENSION TO REAR, SINGLE STOREY 
EXTENSION TO FRONT OF EXISTING BUILDING, FORMATION OF 1000M² 
HARD PLAY AREA AND ERECTION OF A 2.4M HIGH FENCE ALONG THE 
NORTHERN AND EASTERN BOUNDARY AND GATE ALONG THE EASTERN 
SCHOOL BOUNDARY.  ALTERATIONS TO EXISTING CAR PARK AND ACCESS 
INCLUDING PROVISION OF ADDITIONAL SPACES
43 The Director of Economy reported on submitted planning application 
16/00126/FUL for the erection of two storey classroom extension to rear, single 
storey extension to front of existing building, formation of 1000m² hard play area and 
erection of a 2.4m high fence along the northern and eastern boundary and gate 
along the eastern school boundary.  Alterations to existing car park and access 
including provision of additional spaces at Bowlee Park Community Primary School 
Windermere Road Middleton M24 4LA.

In introducing the report the Development Manager advised the Sub-Committee that 
the Highways and Engineering Service had confirmed that the site required 91 
parking bays to meet the maximum standard in the UDP taking into account the 
existing and proposed school, extension and other uses.

The Sub-Committee was updated with regard to a further Highways and Engineering 
consultation response which had been received since the publication of the 
submitted report which recommended that introduction of pedestrian guard rails on 
each side of the footway for the entire length of the site outside the school to 
maximise safety at drop off/pick up times by ensuring pedestrians can only cross the 
road at designated crossing points. The consulation response also recommended the 
removal of the existing formalised parking bays on Windermere Road to allow traffic 
to pass Bowlee Park Community Primary School with less vehicle conflict at peak 
times. 

Public Document Pack

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



The Sub-Committee was also advised of an additional email received from Mr T 
Linden in which he had requested clarification of further concerns.

The Sub-Committee considered objections to the proposed development from Mr 
Terry Linden and Mr Paul Stewart.

The Sub-Committee considered the views of the applicant who addressed the Sub-
Committee in relation to the application.

The Sub-Committee considered the views of Councillor Neil Emmott, a West 
Middleton Ward Member, who addressed the Sub-Committee in relation to the 
application.

The Sub-Committee considered the views of Councillor Donna Martin, the Cabinet 
Member for Children's Services, who addressed the Sub-Committee in relation to the 
application.

DECIDED – That (1) planning permission be granted subject to conditions as 
detailed within the submitted report; and

(2) an additional condition requiring highway safety improvements on 
Windermere Road, to include the introduction of pedestrian guard rails and the 
potential removal of the existing formalised parking bays opposite Bowlee Park 
Community Primary School.

ERECTION OF TWO TEMPORARY CLASSROOMS
44 The Director of Economy and Environment reported on submitted planning 
application 16/00375/FUL for the erection of two temporary classrooms at Bowlee 
Park Community Primary School, Windermere Road, Middleton, M24 4LA. 

The Sub-Committee considered the views of Mr Paul Stewart who addressed the 
Sub-Committee in objection to the application.

The Sub-Committee considered the views of the applicant who addressed the Sub-
Committee in relation to the application.

The Sub-Committee considered the views of Councillor Neil Emmott, a West 
Middleton Ward Member, who addressed the Sub-Committee in relation to the 
application.

DECIDED - That planning permission be granted subject to conditions as 
detailed within the submitted report.

PLANNING APPEALS
45 The Director of Economy reported that the following planning appeals had 
been submitted:

15/01223/FUL – Thornberries, Kirkway, Middleton - Erection of Marquee
(retrospective) (South Middleton) – Delegated Decision

15/01366/FUL – Land adjacent to 8 Peach Bank, Middleton - Two one bedroom 
apartments with associated car parking (North Middleton) – delegated decision

The Director of Economy reported that the Planning Inspectorate had dismissed the 
following planning appeals:

Page 5



None

The Director of Economy reported that the Planning Inspectorate had allowed the 
following planning appeals.

 None

DECIDED – That the planning appeals be noted.

Page 6



Subject: Submitted Planning Applications Status:  For Publication

Report to: Middleton Township Planning  
Committee

Date:         6 July 2016 ^DS,DATEACTCOM.DCAPPL,21;   

Report of: Director of Economy and 
Environment

Author: See individual agenda reports

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 To provide recommendations to the Committee on planning applications or 
related consents submitted to the Council and requiring the consideration 
and/or determination of the Committee in accordance with the Council’s 
approved Scheme of Delegation.

1.2 To provide information on any other planning or development related 
matters which may affect the work of the Committee.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 Recommendations in respect of individual planning applications are as 
detailed in the following papers.

3. STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 The submitted applications on this agenda are to be determined in 
accordance with the provisions of relevant legislation, including the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990, Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, Planning and Compensation Act 1991, Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Planning Act 2008, Localism Act 2011 and 
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015 together with any Directions and Regulations which 
support that legislation.  

3.2 Planning law requires that applications be determined in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
Where relevant, any such material considerations will be referred to in the 
report.

ITEM NO.

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



    The Development Plan

3.3 All planning applications referred to in this report have been assessed 
against the relevant policies and proposals of the development plan for the 
Borough (currently the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 2006) 
and any Supplementary Planning Documents or Guidance adopted by the 
Council.  

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

3.4 In addition, in assessing the submitted planning applications, there is a 
requirement to have regard to relevant national policies as set out within 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) the policies of which are a 
material consideration.  Where relevant, the provisions of the NPPF and any 
other relevant national guidance will be referred to in the report.

4. RISK ASSESSMENT IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members and Officers 
dealing with Planning Matters.  Members and Officers are required to have 
full regard to the Code in discharging their responsibilities and duties in 
relation to planning matters on behalf of the Council.  The Code seeks to 
ensure that all decision making is governed by an open and transparent 
process and represents a standard against which the conduct of Officers 
and Member sitting on the Committee will be judged.  

4.2 A Declaration of Member Interests Register is taken prior to the 
commencement of the Committee meeting.  Advice on whether any 
Member sitting on the Committee ought to declare any interest on any item 
on the submitted agenda should be obtained from the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services or the Head of Planning.  

4.3 The Council’s Standards Committee will monitor the operation of this Code 
of Conduct.   

5. EQUALITIES IMPACTS

5.1 The above Acts require Local Planning Authorities to consider planning 
applications on their individual merits having regard to the development 
plan and other material planning considerations.

5.2 The Equality Act 2010 protects people from discrimination on the basis of 
certain characteristics which are known as protected characteristics.  These 
protected characteristics are Age, Disability, Gender Reassignment, 
Marriage or Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, Religion or 
Belief, Sex (Gender), Sexual Orientation, socio-economic status and Carer.

5.3 In applying the Equality Act 2010, the Council is required to consider the 
effects of its decisions on different groups protected from discrimination, 
including a duty to make reasonable adjustments.  In taking account of all 
material planning considerations, including Council policy as set out in the 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework, the 

Page 8



Director (Economy and Environment) has concluded all opportunities to 
promote equality through the planning process have been taken, or where 
adjustments cannot be made, these are justified on the basis of the 
planning merits of the development proposal.  

5.4 The Rochdale and District Disabled Access Working Group may comment on 
relevant planning applications. Where comments are received, these will be 
included within the reported to Committee.  Consideration is given in 
designing access when dealing with the planning applications. Where 
applicable, any issues relating to these matters or other equal opportunity 
matters will be referred to in individual planning application reports.

6.      Human Rights Act 1998 considerations

6.1   The submitted applications need to be considered against the provisions of 
the Human Rights Act 1998.  Under Article 6, the applications (and those 
third parties, including local residents, who have made representations) 
have the right to a fair hearing and to this end the Committee must give full 
consideration to their comments.

6.2 Article 8 and Protocol 1 Article 1 confer(s) a right of respect or a person’s 
home, other land and business assets.  In taking account of all material 
considerations, including Council policy as set out in the Unitary 
Development Plan, the Director (Economy and Environment) has concluded 
that some rights conferred by these Articles on the 
applicant(s)/objectors/residents and other occupiers and owners of nearby 
land that might be affected may be interfered with but that that 
interference is in accordance with the law and justified by being in the 
public interest and on the basis of the planning merits of the development 
proposal.  He believes that any restriction on these rights posed by 
approval of the application is proportionate to the wider benefits of approval 
and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the 
Council under the Town and Country Planning Acts.

Page 9



Background Papers

      The background papers relevant to the planning applications to be considered on 
this agenda will include:-

1.  The Planning application file and its contents which will include:

i)  The planning application form and supporting information, together with 
scaled drawings/plans and relevant statutory certificates.

ii) Letters of response from statutory and other consultees who may have 
been consulted or commented on the planning application

iii) Letters and documents received from interested parties.
iv) Notes of telephone conversations, meetings and any information received 

and of relevance to the submitted proposal
 

2. For any previous planning application referred to in the agenda report or in the 
application file, the planning application forms and the decision on that proposal

3. Such other papers (if any) received after the preparation of individual reports 
on planning applications on this agenda (to be reported verbally at the meeting).

       4. Any other guidance or procedural documents adopted by the Council and of 
relevance to the recommendation and/or determination of any submitted 
planning applications or related consents

For further information about this report, or if you wish to see any background
papers please contact: Sharon Hill, Senior Business Support Officer, in Economy and 
Environment, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Telephone (01706) 924305 or via the online planning services at: 
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning

Page 10

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning


Application Number: 16/00112/FUL    Ward: North Middleton      

Proposal: Erection of canopy over existing loading bay on front elevation

Site Address: Hanson Point Hanson Close Industrial Estate Hanson Close Middleton 

Applicant: Mr Mohammed Malik
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions

DELEGATION SCHEME

The application has been brought to the Middleton Township Planning Sub-Committee as more 
than four letters of objection have been received from residents within the vicinity of the site, 
contrary to the Officer recommendation for approval. Members have delegated authority to 
approve or refuse planning permission. 

SITE

The application relates to Hanson Point/Jubilee Park at Hanson Close Industrial Estate in 
Middleton, a large (approximately 1.12 hectare) building with an adjoining office wing to the 

Page 11



east, which benefits from a large associated open service yard and car park area to the south 
west. The car park is accessed from Hanson Close at the southwestern end of the site and is 
separated from the yard area by a public footpath, which runs from west to east across the site 
and is fenced off. Vehicular access to the yard and building can be gained across this footpath 
via an automatic security gate.

The site is bounded to the southeast by the River Irk, beyond which lies a large area of 
terraced housing and a flat complex at Wolstenvale Close. These dwellings are elevated, by 
approximately 6 metres, in relation to the application site by virtue of the land levels. There are 
also surrounding residential properties to the northwest on Jubilee Road. Again, these houses 
are elevated above the level of the industrial estate and there is a high, red brick retaining wall 
between the estate and these dwellings. There are further industrial and business premises to 
the west, northwest and northeast of the site. The overall site, including the yard and car 
parks, extends to approximately 2.72 hectares.

The site is presently unoccupied and is advertised to let. Presently, the site has planning 
permission for use within Use Class B8 (Storage or Distribution), though it has previously been 
used for general industrial purposes (within Use Class B2). Hours of external operation/vehicle 
movement at the site are currently restricted to between 0500 and 2400 by virtue of a planning 
condition attached to a previous consent.

PROPOSAL

The application seeks permission for the erection of a steel framed external canopy to the 
south west elevation of the building, above the existing loading/unloading docks. The canopy 
would project 20m from the existing wall, with a width across of 36m. It would be constructed 
to a height of 7.2m at the ridge. The canopy would comprise two side walls, with materials for 
construction of G1000 metallic silver sheet cladding (to match the host building).

The applicant has put forward the following justification statement in support of the application:

‘To comply with condition 6, which states:

"no external loading or unloading of vehicles shall take place outside the buildings. All 
such operations shall take place inside the building utilising the internal dock levellers 
indicated on the approved drawing from vehicles backed through the loading doors into 
the building".

vehicles need to load backed up against the existing loading doors. At present there is a small 
(2m deep) canopy. This does not provide any degree of protection from the elements whilst 
vehicles are loading and unloading. The proposed canopy is intended to provide protection 
from the weather, so that the building can be used as designed. Without the increased canopy 
vehicles cannot be loaded and unloaded during inclement weather.’

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework 

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied.  

National Planning Policy Guidance

Page 12



The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 
made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate.

Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 

G/D/1 Defined Urban Area

G/EC/1 Employment Land Supply
EC/3 Mixed Employment Zones

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking 

G/BE/1            Design Quality
BE/2                Design Criteria for New Development

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control
EM/3 Noise and New Development

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY & BACKGROUND

99/D37175 Change Of Use From General Industrial (Class B2) to Warehousing And 
Distribution (Class B8)

02/D40309 Increase In Roof Height Of Existing Industrial Unit – Granted STC

02/D40357 Continuance Of Use As A Distribution Warehouse Without Compliance 
With Condition 3 Of D37175 Regarding Restriction Of Movement And 
Loading/Unloading Of Vehicles 22.00 Hours And 07.00 Hours On Any 
Day – Refused for the following reason:

The application site lies in close proximity to residential properties on 
Wolstenvale Close and Hulbert Street. The removal of Condition 03 of 
approval D37175 would result in Heavy Goods Vehicles travelling to and 
from the warehouse, across the car parking and yard areas during night 
time hours. It would also result in the loading and unloading of goods 
taking place during unsociable hours. This is likely to result in excessive 
disturbance to local residents by virtue of noise from increased vehicle 
movements and general elevated levels of activity, at a time when they 
could reasonably expect peace and quiet. Due to the difference in levels 
of the application site and adjacent residential properties it would not be 
possible to create a barrier that could effectively shield these houses 
from the potential noise nuisance. Consequently, the proposal would be 
detrimental to the residential amenity currently enjoyed by the adjacent 
residents and would conflict with the criteria set out in Policies EC/3 and 
EN/48 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.

03/D41187 Continuance Of Use As A Distribution Warehouse With A Variation Of 
Condition 3 Of Planning Permission D37175 To Read That No 
Movement Of Vehicles Or Loading/Unloading Of Vehicles Shall Take 

Page 13



Place Within The Area Hatched On The Approved Plan After 24.00 
Hours Or Before 05.00 Hours On Any Day – Granted STC

03/D42733 Continuance Of Use As A Distribution Warehouse With A Variation Of 
Condition 04 Of Planning Permission D41187 To Permit Waste 
Containers To Be Sited Outside The Buildings On Site – Granted STC

15/01007/VRCON Application to remove conditions 2 to 9 of planning permission D41187 
– Withdrawn

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Highways and Engineering – No highways objections regarding this proposal.

Environmental Health – This section would have no objection to the proposal, but would 
request that the existing conditions are applied to the canopy.

REPRESENTATIONS

Letters of notification were sent to surrounding properties and a notice displayed in the vicinity 
of the site. Eight letters of objection have been received in response to this publicity, as 
summarised below:

 The only logical and conceivable reason that the canopy has been applied for would be 
so that wagons could load and unload outside the building and be under cover, thereby 
contravening the restriction against external loading and unloading under planning 
permission D41187 and resulting in noise and disturbance to surrounding residents.
Officer’s Response: The existing conditions from the previous planning permissions 
would remain in force and as such loading and unloading outside of the building would 
still be prohibited. In order to reinforce this, a further condition is recommended, should 
permission be granted, to clarify that the canopy does not constitute an extension of 
the building and loading and unloading must still take place internally through the 
existing loading docks.

 The current hours of work allowed are 5am to midnight and residents would therefore 
be subjected to a barrage of noise, disturbance, and pollution for a potential 19 hours a 
day.
Officer’s Response: The application does not propose any change to the existing hours 
of use, which have been the subject to previous decisions by the LPA and therefore 
considered separately. Existing restrictions on the timing of the movement of vehicles 
and loading and unloading will continue to apply.

 The owners have previously applied to work 24 hours a day – it would appear that they 
are attempting to chip away one by one at the restrictions put in place by a previous 
planning committee.
Officer’s Response: An application was made in 2015 to remove the majority of 
existing conditions which apply to the site; however, this was withdrawn prior to a 
determination by the LPA and the existing conditions therefore remain in place.

 The canopy will inevitably have to be lit up with intrusive lighting resulting in light 
pollution.
Officer’s Response: The application does not include any proposals for additional 
lighting within the site. It is noted that the site is already well served by existing 
floodlighting. Any further lighting to be erected on poles or similar structure would 
require a separate application for planning permission.

Page 14



 Allowing the canopy will set a precedent to remove condition 3 if not all 2-9 conditions 
of D41187.
Officer’s Response: The granting of permission for the canopy would not set any 
precedent for the alteration or removal of the existing conditions and any application for 
the same would be considered on its own merits. 

 Looking at the elevations submitted, there seem to be side walls as well as a roof – 
perhaps the side walls are to dampen the extra noise or to mask activities taking place 
under the canopy.
Officer’s Response: The applicant has indicated that the canopy is proposed to be 
enclosed in order to provide better protection for vehicles and operatives from weather 
elements whilst loading and unloading takes place. Whilst questionable, it is not the 
place of the planning system to consider whether such a development is necessary or 
not.   

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development 

The application site is allocated as Defined Urban Area under the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan. Policy G/D/1 is therefore relevant to any applications on the site and in the 
supporting text to this policy it is established that new development should be located in the 
urban area, so as to support urban regeneration and to protect the countryside. 

The site is also located within an area of land designated under Policy EC/3 of the Unitary 
Development Plan (Mixed Employment Zones) which states that within such areas, 
development and change of use will be permitted for the following employment generating 
uses:

a. Business uses (B1);
b. General industry (B2);
c. Warehousing and distribution (B8), builders’ and plumbers merchants, timber 

suppliers, plant hire depots and other outlets providing a service to the trade, subject to 
conditions regulating the goods sold and the hours of opening;

d. ‘Sui generis’ uses such as the motor trade, including car and caravan showrooms, 
petrol filling stations, tyres and exhaust centres and car washes;

e. Entertainment, leisure and tourism uses, that if they are major will also have to comply 
with policy LT/4 “Major Built Leisure and Tourism Developments”.

f. Retail uses that comply with policy S/9 “Shops in Industrial Premises”.

The site currently benefits from planning permission to operate within Use Class B8 of The 
Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) (Storage or Distribution) 
originally under permission 99/D37175 with subsequent permissions under references 
03/D41187 and 04/D42733 confirming this use, along with a number of relevant conditions.

The application seeks permission for the construction of a canopy extension to the existing 
warehousing/distribution facility, and as such is considered to support the continued use of the 
site under the Business/General Industry use classes within a Mixed Employment Zone and 
therefore accords with the requirements of the above policy. Therefore, subject to the below 
assessment of the environmental, amenity and highways impacts, the scheme is considered 
acceptable in principle. 

Location, Layout, Scale and Design

Policy BE/2 of the UDP is concerned with design criteria for new development and states that 
development proposals should demonstrate good design by ensuring that they are compatible 
with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their scale, density, height, massing, layout, 

Page 15



materials, architectural style and detail and means of enclosure. The policy requires that 
schemes should create visual interest in areas lacking character and take opportunities to 
retain, enhance or create views alongside appropriate treatment of open spaces between and 
around buildings. Good design includes the retention of key natural features, including trees, 
as part of the landscaping of the site and should allow for safe and convenient access and 
circulation.

Paragraph 58 of the NPPF encourages good design by stipulating that planning policies and 
decisions should aim to ensure that developments:

 will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development;

 establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive 
and comfortable places to live, work and visit; 

 respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and 
materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation; 

 create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion.

The proposed canopy would be of a relatively simple style, with a roof form which would mirror 
that of the host building. The proposed materials for construction would also match the 
existing warehouse building, making use of C1000 sheet metal cladding in a grey colour (RAL 
9006). When considered within the context of the surrounding industrial buildings, the canopy 
represents a suitable addition to the host building and, although large, would be considered 
proportionate.  

Relationship with Surrounding Uses including Noise and Disturbance

One of the 12 principles of the NPPF is to ensure that planning decisions “always seek to 
secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future 
occupants of land and buildings”, broadly in line with UDP Policy BE/2 which seeks to ensure 
all development demonstrates good design by making adequate provision for natural light 
within and between buildings and minimising the potential environmental impact of and on the 
development, including noise, air and water pollution.  

The supporting text to policy EC/3 of the UDP acknowledges that many of the zones are 
located very close to existing residential areas and full account has to be taken of the amenity 
of local residents when assessing proposals for new development. The policy, therefore, 
requires that any development is appropriate in scale and character to the local area and that 
it can be accommodated without harming local living conditions.

The proposed canopy would be sited at a minimum distance of 35.5m from the nearest facing 
elevation of residential properties, in this case at the flats on Wolstenvale Close to the south, 
and a distance of 79.5m to the front elevations of the houses fronting Jubilee Road to the 
north-west. Given these separation distances, it is not considered that the canopy would have 
any adverse impact on the occupiers of the surrounding residential properties by way of 
overbearing impact, overshadowing or loss of light. With regard to loss of outlook, it is noted 
that the canopy would be viewed within the context of the existing warehouse unit and the 
service yard and it is not considered that any sustainable objection could be raised in this 
regard. 

Policies EM/2 and EM/3 of the Unitary Development Plan relate to pollution, and in the case of 
the latter, more specifically noise pollution  and outline that if the emission of pollutants from a 
proposed development cannot readily be controlled by other environmental legislation, such 
development will not be permitted where it would be likely to result in an increase in air, water, 

Page 16



noise, light or other pollution, which would be harmful to the environment, and to land uses 
and land users in the area. 

The above is broadly in line with paragraph 123 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
which states that planning policies and decisions should aim to avoid noise from giving rise to 
significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life as a result of new development.

Consultation has been carried out with the Council’s Environmental Health section on the 
application, and they have confirmed that they have no objection to the proposal, on the 
proviso that the existing conditions, as below, are maintained. A number of relevant conditions 
relating to the prevention of noise nuisance at the site are in place as part of permissions 
03/D41187 and 03/D42733, as follows:

 ‘The level of noise from any building within the site, or from anything attached to them 
or used in connection with them, should not exceed 40 dBA Leq 1 minute when 
measured at one metre from any point on the façade of any building occupied for 
residential purposes adjacent to the site.’

 ‘No movement of vehicles or loading/unloading of vehicles shall take place within the 
area hatched in purpled on the approved plan after 24.00 hours or before 05.00 hours 
on any day’ (see below map excerpt).

 ‘No external loading or unloading of vehicles shall take place outside the buildings. All 
such operations shall take place inside the building utilising the internal dock levellers 
indicated on the approved drawings from vehicles backed through the loading doors 
into the building’.

 ‘Between the hours of 22.00 and 24.00 and 05.00 and 07.00 on any day, loading and 
unloading shall take place only from vehicles standing at the loading bay shown cross 
hatched on the approved plan and from no other part of the site.’

 ‘Reversing alarms shall not be employed at any time by vehicles manoeuvring on the 
site.’

 ‘Engines shall be turned off at all times that the vehicles are stationary or parked on the 
site.’

Page 17



It is recommended that, should permission be granted, a further condition be attached 
reinforcing the aims and objectives of previous conditions and ensure that loading and 
unloading may only take place under the canopy if it is through the existing loading docks 
directly into the warehouse itself. Subject to this restriction, and the existing restriction on 
operating hours at the facility, it is not considered that the proposed canopy would have any 
adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties by way of noise and disturbance

It is noted that a number of objectors have raised concerns regarding the need for lighting to 
go alongside the proposed canopy. Paragraph 125 of the NPPF states that planning policies 
and decisions should limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity. 
However, the current application does not include any proposals for floodlighting, and it is 
noted that existing pole-mounted floodlights already cover the service yard and it is therefore 
unlikely that any further lighting would be necessary. The addition of any further lights 
mounted on poles or similar structures would require a further application for planning 
permission.

Page 18



Access and Parking

Policy A/8 of the Unitary Development Plan states that new development will be permitted 
provided that the additional traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient 
operation of the Highway Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Proposals 
should not:

a. Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users;
b. Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 

restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development;

c. Substantially increase congestion;
d. Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or
e. Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 

traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network.

Further to this, UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to 
facilitate safe and convenient access for general traffic including car, motorcycles and 
commercial vehicles and relative to the scale, type and location of development, the proposals 
should ensure that access points to and from premises are safe, convenient and suitable for 
the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them and access for 
emergency and service vehicles is provided.

The Council’s requirements for provision of parking are set out within policy A/10, which refers 
to the Council’s Schedule of Parking Standards – identifying maximum standards for car 
parking provision and minimum standard for cycle and motorcycle parking. 

Consultation has been carried out with the Council’s Highways Officer who has raised no 
objection to the scheme and suggests no further conditions. It is noted that the application 
seeks permission only for the construction of a canopy extension to the existing building and 
does not seek a change of use or extension to the usable floorspace of the building etc. which 
could lead to an intensification of the existing use. It is therefore considered that the scheme 
would not lead to any discernible impact on the surrounding highway network, and sufficient 
space would remain within the site for the safe manoeuvring of vehicles. 

Conclusion

In summary, the proposed canopy is deemed to represent an acceptable addition to the 
building with regard to visual amenity and highways impacts. It is considered that the existing 
conditions pertaining to the site, as enacted by previous planning permissions, in combination 
with the proposed conditions relating to this application would be sufficient to mitigate any 
concerns regarding external loading and unloading of vehicles within the yard area which 
would lead to potential noise and disturbance for the residents of surrounding dwellings. The 
application is therefore recommended for approval.

Page 19



RECOMMENDATION

GRANT subject to the following conditions:-

1 The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date of 
this permission.

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended).

 2 This permission relates to the following plans:- 

- OS Location Plan drawing no. PPC101_00 rev. A dated May 15
- Site Plan drawing no. PPC101 dated Dec 15
- Elevations Proposed Canopy drawing no. PPC101 dated Dec 15
- Site Plan Proposed Canopy drawing no. PPC101 dated Dec 15
- Existing Elevations drawing no. PPC101 dated Dec 15

and the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with these drawings 
hereby approved.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the adopted Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 3 Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no above ground 
construction works shall take place until samples and / or full specifications of materials 
to be used externally on the building(s) have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the type, colour and texture of 
the materials. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity in 
accordance with Policy BE/2 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

 4 No external loading or unloading of vehicles shall take place underneath the canopy 
outside the building. All such operations shall take place inside the building utilising the 
existing internal dock levellers from vehicles backed through the loading doors into the 
building. For the avoidance of doubt, the canopy as hereby approved does not fall within 
the definition of 'building' as used within this condition.

Reason: In order to safeguard the amenities of the area to prevent nuisance arising in 
accordance with the requirements of Policies BE/2, EM/2 and EM/3 of the Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Report Author David Allen

____________________________________________

Page 20



Application Number: 16/00129/FUL    Ward: Hopwood Hall      

Proposal: Erection of 50 dwellings and associated works

Site Address: Former Alderman Kay School, Tintern Road, Middleton  

Applicant: Mr  Stephen Hughes
                  Countryside Properties (UK) Ltd

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions

DELEGATION SCHEME

The application is referred to Middleton Township Planning Sub-Committee on the basis that it 
represents a Departure from the Development Plan.  The application will need referring to 
Planning and Licensing Committee is Members are minded to approve the application.

Page 21



It is also considered that Members may have an interest in the scheme as it involves the 
development of a former school site and thus represents development on Council land.  

SITE

The application relates to the site of the former Alderman Kay School – a broadly rectangular-
shaped parcel of land occupying an area of some 1.18 hectares off Tintern Road, Middleton. 
Whilst the school has now been demolished, its concrete base and adjoining hardstanding 
parking/playground areas remain visible above ground and the original perimeter fencing 
continues to mark the site’s boundaries with adjoining land.
 
The current application is located on the eastern portion of the former school site largely on 
the former playing fields.  Historically, outline (09/D52416) and reserved matters 
(12/56220/REM) applications for a residential development of 52 dwellings have been 
approved on the western portion of the wider school site.  More recently a full application was 
approved for the provision of 38 dwellings (14/00350/FUL) – referred to in this report as phase 
1 on this western portion of the site.  The current application is proposed by the same 
applicant as phase 1 and is intended to reflect the consented scale and layout.  Access to the 
application site would be taken through phase 1 linking in with the approved access road.
 
The land is set at a lower level to Tintern Road, with a footpath (a public right of way – 
MidFp21) flanking the western boundary and running in a northerly direction past the site, 
being elevated some 5 metres above the site’s central ground. A steep banking flanks the 
site’s western boundary and falls away into the site over a distance of approximately 19 
metres away from the perimeter. The land flattens beyond this embankment and remains 
generally level up to the remaining site boundaries. The site occupies a large area of open 
greenspace which was previously used as the playing fields to the school. These playing fields 
are designated as Protected Recreational Open Space on the Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan (UDP) Proposals Map.

The former school site appears flat but falls gently from west to east.  Whilst parts of the site 
are enclosed by fencing of varying heights and designs to the whole of the western boundary 
and sections of the northern, eastern and southern perimeters, these boundaries with are 
more clearly marked by linear belts of woodland which separate the site from adjoining land.  
There is a mature belt of trees along the eastern boundary. Land beyond the site includes 
open farmland to the north, and wooded valleys to the east and south which follow tributaries 
to Trub Brook. Land to the north and east of the site falls within the Green Belt, with the valley 
to the south allocated as Greenspace Corridor and also forming part of the Hopwood Woods 
Local Nature Reserve and Recreational Management Area. This land provides a buffer with 
houses on Waverley Road to the south and is dissected by a footpath which runs between 
Tintern Road and Waverley Road, and also provides a route into the nature reserve.

Surrounding development is dominated by housing, the majority of which are two storey 
terraces of Local Authority/Ex-Local Authority stock. A short run of semi-detached properties 
are located to the south side of Tintern Road (nos. 106-124), with a more recent (circa early 
2000s) development of bungalows on the cul-de-sacs of Scout Green and Schofield Close 
located further south towards the junction of Tintern Road and Whalley Road. The closest 
dwellings front phase 1 and face the footpath flanking the western site boundary and are 
located a minimum of some 8.5 metres from the existing perimeter fence of the former school. 
These properties occupy an elevated position (approximately 5 metres higher) in relation to 
the flat area of the site below which is to be developed. 

Access to phase 1 has already been established and utilises an existing opening off Tintern 
Road to the southwest corner of the site which forms the previous entrance to the school.  The 
current application would utilise this access and link with the road which was approved by 
virtue of planning permission 14/00350/FUL. 

Page 22



PROPOSAL

The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 50 houses on the site at a 
density of approximately 42 dwellings per hectare. Dwellings would be organised in four linear 
rows running from north-south.  Dwellings would front cul-de-sacs and shared 
access/driveways and with the main road running through the site being faced by the side or 
front of properties. A new estate road would utilise the existing site access from Tintern Road, 
curving in a north-easterly direction into phase 1 of the site at its southwest corner before 
running through the site west to east.  The road would terminate close to the eastern boundary 
of the site by forming a turning head. Properties would benefit from in-curtilage parking spaces 
fronting the dwellings or alongside their gable elevations. A total of 100 parking spaces would 
be provided as part of the scheme, resulting in the provision of 2 spaces per dwelling.

All houses would be 2 or 2.5 storeys in height.  There are a range of house types incorporating 
3 bedrooms.  Most of the dwellings are semi-detached but there are a small number of short 
terraces.  Corner semi’s facing the main road running through the site would have a dual 
aspect. The submitted remediation report indicates that levels would be lifted across the site 
by between 0.5m and 1.5m.

Elevations would incorporate simple, well-proportioned arrangements. Protruding facing 
gables, porches and canopies would add variety to simple elevational treatments, as would 
detailing – including arched brick headers and stone cills to windows, string courses between 
ground and first floor levels and the use of contrasting materials and render.

The application also includes the erection of a substation building which would be positioned 
close to the entrance of the former school site and within phase 1 of the development.  The 
proposed substation comprises a red brick building with a hipped roof.  The substation would 
measure 4m x 4m with a height to eaves of 2.9m.

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance:

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF set out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.  

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

Unitary Development Plan: 

G/D/1 Defined Urban Area

G/G/1 Greenspace
G/3 Protected Recreational Open Space (Schools)
G/8 (A-D) Greenspace Corridor

G/RE/1 Countryside and the Rural Economy

Page 23



RE/7 Recreational Management Areas

G/H/1 Housing
H/3 Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas
H/6 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development
H/7 Affordable Housing

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/3 New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking

G/BE/1 Design Quality
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development
BE/8 Landscaping in new Development

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control
EM/3 Noise and New Development
EM/4 Contamination
EM/7 Development and Flood Risk
EM/9 Development Involving Unstable Land

G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation
EM/13 Energy Efficiency and New Development

G/NE/1 Nature Conservation
NE/3 Biodiversity and Development
NE/4 Protected Species

G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands
NE/8 Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows

Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPD (2016)
Energy and New Development SPD
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD
Affordable Housing SPD

Rochdale Core Strategy (Publication Submission 2013):

The Core Strategy was submitted for examination in 2013 and hearing sessions were held by 
the Inspector to consider the ‘soundness’ of the plan in October of that year.  Following on 
from these sessions the Inspector asked the Council to provide an update of its Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment in order for him to properly consider the housing issues, 
including the housing target, set out in the plan.  This update was carried out and the 
examination reconvened in June 2015 to consider this updated evidence.  The Council has 
now received a schedule of proposed Main Modifications from the Inspector which include 
recommendations on changes to the wording and content of some of the policies in the 
emerging Core Strategy. These recommended main modifications are currently being 
consulted on.  It is considered that policies not affected by proposed modifications can carry 
significant weight in decision making.  Those policies which are subject to proposed 
modifications are likely to carry less weight at this point but may, as modified, have some 
relevance in the decision making process.  It is anticipated that the Core Strategy will be 
adopted in summer 2016.

Page 24



The following policies contained in the emerging Rochdale Core Strategy are relevant:- 

SO1 To deliver a more prosperous economy
SO2 To create successful and healthy communities
SO3 To improve design, image and quality of place
SO4 To promote a greener environment

SD1 Delivering sustainable development

C1 Delivering the right type of housing in the right places
C6 Improving health and well being
C8 Improving community, sport, leisure and cultural facilities

P2 Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage
P3 Improving design of new development

G1 Tackling and adapting to climate change
G2 Energy and new development
G3 Renewable and low carbon energy developments
G6 Enhancing Green Infrastructure
G7 Increasing the biodiversity and geodiversity
G8 Managing water resources and flood risk
G9 Reducing the impact of pollution 
G10 Managing mineral resources

T2 Improving accessibility
DM1 General development requirements
DM2 Delivering planning contributions and infrastructure

PUBLICITY
Earliest Decision Date: 17th March 2016
Revised Expiry Date: 

Site Notice: Major Application Date Displayed: 2nd March 2016

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

There is no history directly relating to the application site.  However, the following applications 
are applicable to the former Alderman Kay school site immediately adjacent to the application 
site:

 09/D52416 – Outline application (including access, layout and scale) for residential 
development comprising 52 dwellings in 2 and ½ storey and 3 storey units – Approved.

 12/56220/REM – Application for approval of reserved matters for the appearance of 52 
dwellings and the landscaping of the site pursuant to outline planning permission 
09/D52416 – Approved.

 13/00127/OUT – Application for a new planning permission to replace extant planning 
permission D52416 for outline permission (including access, layout and scale) relating 
to a residential development comprising 52 dwellings in 2 1/2 storey and 3 storey units 
– Deemed withdrawn.

The three applications above involved development on the former school site.  These 
schemes have not been implemented and the timescale for implementation has now 
expired.  However, the following application has recently been approved and is often 

Page 25



referred to in this report as ‘phase 1’.  The proposed development is intended to be 
‘phase 2’ and therefore, has many similarities with phase 1:

 14/00350/FUL - Residential development - 38 dwellings – Approved subject to 
conditions and a S106 Agreement – referred to in this report as ‘phase 1’.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Highways and Engineering: - No objections. Comments as follows: 
 The applicant has proposed a 200% parking provision and this proposal is ideal for a 

development of this size.
 In addition to this the A664 Rochdale Road and the A6406 Hollin Lane provide regular 

bus routes to a variety of destinations offering a sustainable transport method and 
alternative to the car.

 The level of traffic this development would generate will not create a significant 
negative effect on the local highway network.  There would be no capacity issues.  The 
highway network can safely accommodate this development.

 The development will not have a significant impact on road safety. Ample dedicated 
parking has been proposed therefore on street parking outside the development will 
not be an issue.

 The proposed access is sufficient to serve a development of this size and nature.
 The applicant proposes multi-shared driveways.  Whilst there are no objections, these 

areas will not be adopted and Rochdale Council will not maintain lighting or the road 
surface.

 No concerns about refuse collection from this location.
 Highways drainage will not be changed by this development.
 The application will not impact upon highways layout.
 No Public Right of Way will be obstructed by this development.
 No conditions recommended.

Highways have made further comments in respect of the layout detail.  “If each of the double 
parking spaces which are shown side by side and on the end of the row of properties (as listed 
below) are to truly access on the apex of the highway junction, this will create a blind spot.  
The double driveways identified are P45, P60, P61, P83, P74, P73.  These are different to the 
earlier driveways in phase one, such as P26 and P27 which are accessed/front onto the 
straight edge of the highway, not at the apex of the junction….Audit will raise issues with these 
parking bays”.

Strategic Housing – I can confirm there will be an affordable housing requirement in relation to 
the above planning application but given the location of the proposed development, i.e. on a 
social housing estate, the Council  is likely to seek a commuted sum rather than on site 
provision. In line with the Council’s Affordable Housing SPD the commuted sum required 
would be 7.5% of the schemes gross development value.

United Utilities - United Utilities will have no objection to the proposed development provided 
that the following conditions are attached to any approval (summarised):

 Development to be carried out in accordance with submitted FRA and no surface water 
shall be permitted to drain into public sewer.  

 Sustainable drainage and management/maintenance plan to be agreed.  

Lead Local Flood Authority – I have read through the FRA and would like further confirmation 
on the condition and nature of the unnamed watercourse they intend to use to remove the 
surface water.  In addition, I would like them to reduce the discharge rate to below the 
greenfield run-off rate due to the nature of both the unnamed watercourse and Whit Brook.  

Page 26



Due to the nature of the development, I would like the discharge into the brook to be in two 
locations if possible so reducing impact on the watercourse. Greenfield run-off allows water to 
get into the watercourse along its length, whereas using pipes will concentrate flow in at one 
place.  

Coal Authority - The application site does not fall with the defined Development High Risk 
Area and is located instead within the defined Development Low Risk Area. This means that 
there is no requirement under the risk-based approach that has been agreed with the LPA for 
a Coal Mining Risk Assessment to be submitted or for The Coal Authority to be consulted.

In accordance with the agreed approach to assessing coal mining risks as part of the 
development management process, if this proposal is granted planning permission, it will be 
necessary to include The Coal Authority’s Standing Advice within the Decision Notice as an 
informative note to the applicant in the interests of public health and safety.

GM Fire Service - The Fire Service requires vehicular access for a fire appliance to within 45m 
of all points within the dwellings. 

The access road should be a minimum width of 4.5m and capable of carrying 12.5 tonnes. 
Additionally if the access road is more than 20m long a turning circle, hammerhead, or other 
turning point for fire appliances will be required. The maximum length of any cul-de-sac 
network should be 250 m.

Sport England - Sport England notes in the Planning Statement that at paragraph 4.37 
onwards titled ‘Loss of School Playing Fields’ it is made clear that Sport England is not a 
statutory consultee – a matter that we agree with. However, the fact that Sport England is not 
a statutory consultee does not negate the fact that the loss of playing field still needs to be 
addressed by the applicant. 

Although the site hasn’t been used for pitch sport in over five years, as a planning unit, it still 
remains as playing field: the site could be reinstated as a playing field and pitch marked out 
and this would not require planning permission. 

We would also direct the Local Planning Authority to planning appeal ref: 
APP/U4610/A/12/2176169 which relates to the redevelopment of a playing field that had not 
been recently used for sport, where it was held that:

“…there is no physical feature that makes the site inherently unsuitable for use for outdoor 
sport…”

“There is no distinction between privately and publicly available sports provision in the 
National Planning Policy Framework. In paragraph 74, it is specified that existing open space, 
sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing fields should not be built upon 
unless various criteria are complied with. This is sufficiently broad to cover the last use of the 
relevant part of the application site.”

“There is no definition of the word ‘existing’ in the glossary. Although the site is not currently in 
active use, it is capable of being used for that purpose for the reasons given earlier in my 
decision. There has been no argument that the land has any other lawful use.”

On the basis of the above, the planning inspectorate held that, in accordance with Local Plan 
Policy and National Planning Policy Framework, compensatory replacement provision is 
necessary and should be provided as part of the scheme.

Page 27



In light of the above, Sport England objects to the application because it is not considered to 
accord with any of the exceptions to Sport England’s Playing Fields Policy or with Paragraph 
74 of the NPPF.

As a way forward, Sport England would suggest that it is demonstrated that the playing field is 
surplus to any latent demand and this is evidenced by reference to a robust and up to date 
playing pitch strategy. If this cannot be evidenced, then compensatory provision should be 
provided. 

Following the receipt of additional information from the applicant, Sport England made further 
comments as follows:

“The rebuttal statement makes reference that when Alderman Kay Primary School was closed 
it was replaced by a purpose built facility which included at least equivalent replacement 
sports provision, yet the rebuttal statement and the Planning Statement do not illustrate extent 
of the quality and quantity of the replacement sport provision. 

Please could you, or the applicant, provide details of the replacement sport provision that 
includes plans showing the extent of the new playing field that was created at the replacement 
school site and confirmation that:

 This playing field was completely new  and was not being constructed as replacement 
playing field for any other development elsewhere (for example a new school/extension 
on existing playing field resulting in replacement playing field being provided). 

 This playing field was provided entirely as replacement for the playing field that is 
proposed to be lost as part of the this current planning application. 

 What the previous use of the land where the replacement playing was constructed”.

Public Protection (Environment) - Condition to be attached to any permission granted requiring 
site investigation in respect of contamination.

Environment Agency – No objection subject to conditions relating to contaminated land.

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) - The GMEU have commented on previous phases 
and applications on this site.  No significant ecological constraints were identified by the 
developer’s ecological consultant.  Issues relating to invasive species, nesting birds, bats, 
drainage and ecological mitigation can be resolved via condition. A badger report by 
Appletons is referred to.  This is not available on line.

Bats
The site was assessed for its value for bats.  No roosting opportunities occur on the site.  
Trees and woodland around the boundary of the site have potential for foraging and 
commuting.  The consultants recommend that restriction be placed on any external lighting 
that may impact upon these features.  Having viewed the proposed landscape layout it is clear 
that the housing backs on to the boundaries and therefore the risk of adverse lighting is low.  
No further information or measures are required with regards to bats.

Badgers
Reference is made to Appletons Report 2030: Tintern Road Badger Survey.  The GMEU has 
not seen this report.  Could you please email a copy of this report – The report was sent to 
GMEU but no further comments have been received.  

Nesting Birds
The development will result in the loss of trees and scrub potential bird nesting habitat.  All 
British birds nests and eggs (with certain limited exceptions) are protected by Section 1 of the 

Page 28



Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, as amended.  Please apply the following condition to any 
permission.

No works to trees or shrubs shall occur between the 1st March and 31st August in any year 
unless a detailed bird nest survey by a suitably experienced ecologist has been carried out 
immediately prior to clearance and written confirmation provided that no active bird nests are 
present which has been agreed in writing by the LPA.

Invasive Species
Wall cotoneaster and himalayan balsam have been identified on and near the site.  Species 
such as Himalayan balsam and wall cotoneaster are included within this schedule 9 part 2 of 
the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, as amended. It is an offence to introduce or cause to 
grow wild any plant listed under this schedule.  Please apply the following condition to any 
permission.

Prior to any earthworks a method statement detailing eradication and/or control and/or 
avoidance measures for himalayan balsam and wall cotoneaster should be supplied to and 
agreed in writing to the LPA.  The agreed method statement shall be adhered to and 
implemented in full unless otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA.

Impact on Water courses
I note that drainage in to the Brook via attenuated pipes, is proposed, a tributary of the Trub 
Brook which leads to the Whit Brook, a tributary of the River Irk and part of the Irwell 
catchment currently subject to a LIFE IP award to investigate best practice in the 
implementation of the Water Framework Directive. Rochdale is a partner in this project.  The 
EU Water Framework Directive requires environmental objectives be set for all surface and 
ground waters to enable them to achieve good status or potential for heavily modified water 
bodies by a defined date.  One objective is to prevent further deterioration which can include 
changes to flow pattern, width and depth of channel, sediment availability/transport and 
ecology and biology.  The WFD is implemented in the UK through River Basin Management 
Plans which are material planning considerations.    

I am unclear whether this will result in a nett increase in discharge from the site or nett 
reduction.  Any increase in water, or sediment discharge would be regarded as a negative 
impact and contrary to the Directive unless mitigation was provided.  Please apply the a 
condition to any permission along the following lines or as part of any CEMP

No development, site clearance, earth moving shall take place or material or machinery 
brought on site until a method statement to protect the ordinary water course flowing in to Trub 
Brook from accidental spillages, dust and debris has been supplied to and agreed by the LPA.  
All measure will be implemented and maintained for the duration of the construction period in 
accordance with the approved details.  In addition please condition the details of the proposed 
attenuated drainage to ensure no nett increase in discharge of water, pollution or sediment in 
to the watercourse

Nett Ecological Impact
Mitigation should be required for loss of trees and associated bird nesting habitat in order to 
comply with the NPPF.  Please apply a condition along the following lines.

A landscape plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA, prior to 
commencement of development.  The content of the plan should include elements to mitigate 
for loss of trees shrubs and bird nesting habitat.   The approved plan will be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details.

Following the submission of the badger survey, no further comments have been received from 
GMEU.

Page 29



Public Rights Of Way - I have considered this application. As you know, our sole interest in 
such matters is whether or not the proposed development will impact upon any Public Rights 
of Way in the area.  I note that the planning application (box 6) states that proposals do not 
require any diversions/extinguishments of rights of way. However, it would appear that the 
southern end of Mid FP 121 is right at the entrance to the proposed development. Mid FPs 
127 and 129 on the eastern and norther boundaries of the development site may also be 
affected by the proposed works.  From an Environmental Management point of view none of 
these Public Rights of Way must be adversely affected by the proposed development, 
meaning that they must not be obstructed or the surfaces disturbed in any way during the 
development and must remain fully accessible at all times. Should any of these Public Rights 
of Way need to be temporarily diverted or closed during the development the diversion/closure 
applications need to be submitted in the usual way.

Greater Manchester Police (Design for Security) - The proposed development should be 
designed and constructed in accordance with the recommendations contained within section 
3.3 of the submitted Crime Impact Statement dated (16/12/2015 – URN: 2014/0188/CIS/02 
Version B) 

The proposed development should be designed and constructed to Secured by Design 
standards including laminated glazing; security-certified windows and doors (please see 
www.designforsecurity.org/secured-by-design/ or www.securedbydesign.com for more 
information). Developments that are built to this standard are less likely to be susceptible to 
crime.

REPRESENTATIONS

Direct Publicity: - The application was advertised as a Major Development and a Departure 
from the Development Plan.  The appropriate neighbouring properties were notified of the 
application by letter. In addition, as the proposal represents major development, notices were 
also posted on site and in the local press.  One letter of representation has been received on 
behalf of The Friends of Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve.  The comments made are as 
follows:

-  The application is proposing two footpath links into the Nature Reserve, one to the 
side connecting to an existing right of way and one to the rear of the development. 
These links need to have appropriate access controls in the form of a Centre Wire 
kissing gates to prevent motorbikes and quads. The application also proposes the 
creation of a new footpath linking to the Nature Reserve who is going to create this and 
long term whom is going to maintain it in the future. The creation of a new footpath is 
all well and good but it will also increase the misuse of the Nature Reserve.

Officer Response – The application now shows a single footpath to the north of the site which 
is intended to link in with the managed meadow to the north of the site.  Therefore, the 
footpath will not link in with the nature reserve which is located to the south.

- Who will design/ approve species/ habitat types to be developed in buffer zone as 
stated in the various plans, i.e. there would be possible transmitting of species 
between new area's and areas of Nature Reserve. Who is going to maintain the buffer 
areas recommended and stated in various parts of the reports created by the 
development at a time when the council's main expertise and physical presence in 

Page 30

http://www.designforsecurity.org/secured-by-design/
http://www.securedbydesign.com/


regards to maintenance and development of conservation areas, Countryside Services 
have been drastically cut over the last three years by at least 50% in the Middleton 
area?

Officer Response – The applicant will be responsible for maintenance of trees and vegetation 
within their own boundary.  The scheme has also been amended in order to ensure that only 
native, non-invasive species are to be planted within the development site, thus reducing the 
potential for the nature reserve to be populated by invasive, non-native species.  

- The development is proposing to allow run off water into the brook in the Nature 
Reserve, the group has been working with the Countryside Ranger and Council to 
improve the area. Our aim is to encourage the Great Crested Newt to the area again 
by adding ponds. The brook is corroded quite drastically lower down due to the 
increase in water from St Anne's drains. To add more water to a brook that is 
deteriorating isn't a viable option and will only cause problems in the future especially 
as an approved application proposes to do the same.

Officer Response – The Council’s Drainage Officer has assessed the scheme and also raises 
similar concerns.  The developer has been made aware of the potential impact on the brook 
and a condition is recommended which would require the submission of a scheme which 
demonstrates that the flow/discharge from the development would be reduced.  The submitted 
scheme would also need to address the concerns.  Full details are set out in the drainage 
section of this report.

- The developments proximity to the Nature Reserve gives concerns in regards to 
rubbish/ fly tipping over the fences or rear of gardens into the Nature Reserve. This is 
already a massive problem in the area already. The group has been trying to acquire 
the land adjacent to the proposed development to create a wildflower meadow and 
new ponds. The group feels strongly that this land should be kept for the community 
which is especially important if this development gets approved.

Officer Response – There is no evidence that the provision new housing would increase the 
likelihood of unauthorised tipping.  The scheme has been designed so that each of the 
proposed gardens includes a 1.8m close-boarded along the rear boundary to contain 
residential activities within each of the respective houses/gardens.  In any event, any tipping 
on land surrounding the development site would be illegal.  Furthermore, the land to the north 
of the site is to be improved by the Council thus there will be no direct pedestrian link to the 
Nature Reserve from the application site.  

ANALYSIS

Principle of development

As outlined at paragraph 14, the underpinning principle embedded within the NPPF is a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. In terms of decision taking, this means:

 approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without delay; 
and

 where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date, 
granting permission unless: 

Page 31



o any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in [the] Framework taken as a 
whole; or

o specific policies in [the] Framework indicate development should be restricted.

In the context of the above, the site is designated as Protection of Existing Recreational Open 
Space in the 2006 UDP Proposals Map and the proposal therefore represents a departure 
from the development plan, specifically Policy G/3. The second bullet above is relevant and 
requires an assessment of the relevant policies in the development plan to determine whether 
or not they are out-of-date.  

UDP policy H/3 states that proposals for housing on sites not allocated for housing or any 
other use in the plan will be permitted where the site is located on previously developed land.  
Where housing is proposed on greenfield land, policy H/3 states that development may be 
allowed when the supply of available land for residential development falls below five years.  
Notwithstanding this, the NPPF advises that housing applications should be considered in the 
context of a presumption in favour of sustainable development, and the relevant policies for 
the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the Local Authority cannot 
demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing sites.  

In this case, the site lies on a former playing field (which ceased to be used as a playing field 
in 2008) but to all intents and purposes it remains green and undeveloped.  It is therefore, a 
greenfield site.  It is not allocated/identified in either the local plan or the Strategic Housing 
Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) as a future housing site.  The redevelopment of a 
greenfield site which is not identified for housing purposes weighs significantly against the 
application.  

In respect of the Council’s housing land supply; the UDP states a figure of 240 new homes per 
annum.  However, this figure has been superseded by the Council’s most recent evidence 
which has been prepared in support of the Core Strategy.  This document (Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment (SHMA)) demonstrates an Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) of 460 
dwellings per annum.  The Council are currently awaiting the Inspector’s report and final 
recommendations in respect of the Core Strategy.  However, it is acknowledged that the 
housing figure set out in the UDP is out of date.  Therefore, of crucial importance in this case 
is the consideration that the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply in 
compliance with the NPPF.  In addition, there has been consistent under-delivery against the 
most recent evidence of the Council’s objectively assessed need.  It is therefore concluded 
that presumption in favour of sustainable development applies as outlined in paragraph 14 of 
the NPPF.

Paragraph 9 of the NPPF states that pursuing sustainable development involves seeking 
positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and historic environment, as well as in 
people’s quality of life, including (but not limited to):

 making it easier for jobs to be created in cities, towns and villages;

 moving from a net loss of bio-diversity to achieving net gains for nature;

 replacing poor design with better design;

Page 32



 improving the conditions in which people live, work, travel and take leisure; and

 widening the choice of high quality homes. 

Key to its economic dimension is the contribution to building a strong, responsive and 
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure.

The social dimension requires supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
providing the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; 
and by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect the 
community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being.

Finally, the environmental dimension requires that development contributes to protecting and 
enhancing our natural, built and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve 
biodiversity, use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and 
adapt to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy.

Accessibility/Location

The site lies to the north east of Tintern Road and beyond the eastern edge of the existing 
residential development.  The land lies adjacent to a former school which served part of north 
Middleton.  The site is easily accessible by car and buses frequent Tintern Road and the 
surrounding estate.  There are a small number of retail units and public houses (Nowell Road 
Local Centre) within a 5 minute walk and schools within 10 minutes.   A wider variety of 
employment, leisure, retail, health and other community facilities and amenities are located 
within Middleton, Heywood, Rochdale and Oldham and all are easily accessible by bus or car.  
Manchester is further afield but still readily accessible. Having regard to the above, the 
application site is considered to be within a sustainable location for the purposes of the NPPF.   
The scheme is also considered to meet criterion (b), (c) and (e) of UDP policy H/3.

Protected Recreational Open Space

The whole of the site falls within the Defined Urban Area and within an area of Protected 
Recreational Open Space (PROS) on the UDP Proposals Map.  The UDP policy G/3 indicates 
that the development of PROS will not be permitted for any other use and therefore, this 
application represents a departure from the UDP.

Policy G/3 states that designated recreational open space will generally be protected from 
development unless one of the criteria set out under the policy is satisfied.  These criteria 
include: 1) where the development is ancillary to the recreational use of the site; 2) where 
alternative provision is made; 3) where the development would fund improvements elsewhere; 
and 4) where the development comprises a built recreational facility.  Given that this proposal 
is for residential development on the site then only the second and third criteria can be 
considered in relation to this proposal.

The policy adds that ‘School playing fields which are surplus to educational requirements, and 
privately-owned sports grounds which have deteriorated due to lack of use and maintenance, 
will continue to be safeguarded from development as they still offer potential to meet current 
and future recreational needs.’  Given that this site was a former school playing field this part 
of the policy is also relevant to this application. 

Page 33



The scheme as put forward does not include any open space nor does it include the provision 
of open space elsewhere and therefore, this criterion cannot be viewed as being met by the 
proposal.  

In terms of the third criterion under the policy, the applicant states that since this school has 
already amalgamated with other schools on a new site, the loss of the existing school and 
associated facilities has already been offset to some degree by the provision of improved replacement 
facilities elsewhere to meet the identified needs.  Whilst this may be the case, the policy clearly relates 
this criterion to the current proposed development and not to other development that may have gone 
before.  

In respect of the amenity/recreational value of the current site, the area of proposed housing 
comprises playing fields associated with the former Alderman Kay School.  The school has 
since been demolished and there is an extant permission on the land adjacent for 38 dwellings 
(phase 1), submitted by the same applicant (ref - 14/00350/FUL).  The Council is in the 
process of producing a Playing Pitch Strategy which would allow a review of assets and use in 
the area, and provide an understanding of the needs and capacity to meet community 
demand.  However, in the absence of a Playing Pitch Strategy or Green Infrastructure 
Strategy, the recreational/green space value of the land in question is largely the subject of 
conjecture.  Sport England have raised an objection to the proposal (as detailed in the 
consultation section of this report) but as the application is on land which has not been used 
as playing field for more than 5 years, their comments are as a non-statutory consultee.  Their 
comments are considered to have been addressed in this report.

It is clear that the site is not used in association with a school given the demolition of the 
school facility.  The site also appears to have limited value as a local green space asset on the 
basis that the land is not readily accessible to members of the public and there are a number 
of other maintained and more accessible green space areas close by.  It is also noted that the 
site is not regularly maintained by the Council.  Notwithstanding the above however, it is 
acknowledged that the site has the potential to be used as green space either formally or 
informally.

The proposal does not include on-site open space, nor does it include an offer of 
compensatory open space elsewhere and therefore, criterion 3 of policy G/3 cannot be viewed 
as being met by the proposal.  However, in order to address this conflict, the application 
includes provision for an additional footpath to the north of the site and a kissing gate between 
the open space and the development site in order to link in with the existing green space to 
the north.  This area of green space to the north is subject to potential future improvements 
facilitated by the Council and largely funded by the development permitted in phase 1 (phase 
1 included a contribution of £96,000 to be split between off-site open space and sports 
provision).

The scheme would involve the erection of 50 of dwellings which would make a significant and 
valuable contribution towards the supply of housing within the Borough.  In the context of the 
above, significant weight is afforded to the benefits of the proposal in respect of its contribution 
to the supply of housing in the Borough and associated economic benefits that flow from 
temporary construction jobs and an increase in economic activity associated with new 
housing.   Therefore, it is considered that the provision of housing on this site and the 
associated benefits outweighs the loss of the former playing field in this case.

Design and layout

Criteria (a), (e), (g) and (h) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design 
by:

Page 34



 Ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their 
scale, density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and 
means of enclosure;

 Appropriate treatment of open spaces between and around buildings, including the 
provision of landscaping as an integral part of the development layout.

 Providing for safe and convenient access and circulation;
 Minimising opportunities for crime against people or property.

Principles of good design in housing schemes are also outlined within the Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD): Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide.

Paragraph 58 of the NPPF encourages good design by stipulating that planning policies and 
decisions should aim to ensure that developments:

 will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development;

 establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive 
and comfortable places to live, work and visit; 

 respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and 
materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation; 

 create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion.

The surrounding area is characterised by a combination of circa 1960s terraced and semi-
detached housing/flats fronting onto Tintern Road and the footpath flanking the western site 
boundary of the former school.  There are more recent (mid-2000s) developments comprising 
a mix of bungalows on Scout Green and Schofield Close, and two-storey housing fronting onto 
Whalley Road.  Large expanses of open space are located to the north (Green Belt), with a 
section of Greenspace Corridor flanking the southern site boundary and providing a buffer with 
dwellings on Waverley Road.

With the exception of bungalows at the junction between Tintern Road and Whalley Road, 
surrounding dwellings are predominantly two-storeys in height and linear.  Well defined 
building lines predominate.   Dwellings in the area predominantly comprise red brick whilst a 
number of dwellings (particularly the older housing stock) include elements of render of 
varying colours and types. 

Despite the close proximity of nearby housing stock, the site is surprisingly secluded owing to 
a difference in levels of approximately 5m between the site and the existing residential 
elements to the west.  The site is particularly well screened to the north, east and south and 
would be complimented by housing associated with planning permission 14/00350/FUL to the 
west.  As a result, visibility of the proposed development would be filtered and in some cases 
totally obscured from existing public vantage points.  The site is not a notable feature of the 
existing Tintern Road streetscape.

The submitted scheme is intended to reflect the approved layout of phase 1.  To that end, it 
follows a linear pattern of development with dwellings being located along cul-de-sacs each of 
which run off a main access road which runs straight through the site linking with phase 1.  
The proposed layout is therefore, broadly the same as the adjacent, extant planning 
permission (14/00350/FUL).  There are however, subtle differences.  The proposed scheme is 
more heavily dominated by front driveways and there is a lack of garden/amenity space and 
space generally between driveways.  In order to address these deficiencies, the applicant has 
submitted additional details which show hedge and other planting within the centre of parking 
bays in order to provide an element of greenery.  This would soften the appearance of the 
parking areas.  In addition, the frontage of each cul-de-sac includes a number of heavy 
standard trees comprising robust native species and other vegetation.  

Page 35



As with surrounding dwellings, properties would occupy elongated plots with open-plan 
gardens (including in-curtilage parking) benefitting from good natural surveillance to the front 
and enclosed private amenity areas to the rear. The number of dwellings across the site area 
would result in a density 42 dwellings per hectare.  Individual house types would be organised 
in matching pairs (or terraces in the case of some plots) in order to ensure symmetry and 
rhythm between dwellings. Dwellings would follow the prevailing pattern and density of 
development in the locality, and would sit comfortably amongst surrounding buildings with 
respect to their layout, spacing and orientation.

All four basic house types proposed would be two storeys/two and a half storeys in height, 
with their ridgelines stepping down away from the central estate road. The scale, height, 
massing and roofscape of the development (including the range of roof profiles) would reflect 
that of surrounding housing and, by virtue of the change in levels in relation to Tintern Road, 
the dwellings would not have a dominant or intrusive appearance in the street scene. 
Properties on corner plots would have dual aspects to the cul-de-sac in order to effectively 
turn the corners of the development. 

The proposal promotes a strong element of rhythm, detailed by consistent window proportions 
and arrangements.  Porch canopies, brick string courses, headers and sills to fenestrations all 
add a degree of interest to the scheme.  Materials would comprise a combination of facing 
brick (including a mix of red and buff finished with a contrasting course to form a string and 
surrounds to window openings), render to the upper floors of some house types and concrete 
roof tiles with a grey/dark red finish.

The proposed dwellings, by virtue of their size, scale, height, layout, massing, materials and 
design, would be compatible with the pattern, density and character of surrounding 
development, and would assimilate sympathetically with neighbouring buildings and the street 
scene.

The development would provide a mix of housing with respect to the size and type of living 
accommodation proposed and would be compatible with the style and vernacular of 
development in the locality. Measures such as boundary treatments, the orientation of 
properties and the position of parking spaces would also limit opportunities for crime against 
people and property.  In addition, the layout initially included details of links to the surrounding 
footpaths to the north east and south east.  However, following the submission of Crime 
Impact Statement with the application, it was concluded that footpaths links from the site to 
these surrounding footpaths would be a crime impact risk.  

Overall the proposal in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies H/3, BE/2, the 
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide and the NPPF.

Relationship with surrounding development

UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, 
both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the 
amenity of future residents.

Criterion (i) of UDP policy BE/2 requires proposals to ensure adequate provision for natural 
light is made both within and between buildings. 

In addition, the spacing standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” recommend that a minimum 
separation distance of 21 metres should be retained between principal elevations of opposing 
dwellings and a distance of 14 metres between principal and secondary elevations. Where 

Page 36



these separation distances cannot be achieved, proposals should be “compatible with the 
density and character of surrounding development”.

Existing occupiers:

The proposed dwellings are not located within close proximity of any existing dwellings.  
Therefore, the issue in this case is the relationship between the proposed dwellings, and the 
approved phase 1 development.  

The site would share boundaries with open farmland forming part of the Green Belt to the 
north, and a densely wooded area to the east. Therefore, the proposed development is in 
compliance with the spacing standards recommended in paragraph 5.2 of the SPG in respect 
of existing dwellings as, in this case, the closest dwellings to the site would be those 
consented as part of phase 1 of the development and the distance between the proposal and 
the consented dwellings would be 20m. 

Therefore, the proposed development, by virtue of its scale, height, layout, separation, design 
(including fenestration arrangements) and relationship with neighbouring dwellings (including 
changes in topography), would be compatible with the density and character of surrounding 
development and would have no undue impact on the privacy and amenity of neighbouring 
occupiers through overlooking, overshadowing, loss of outlook or loss of daylight. 

Future Occupiers:

Within the development itself, dwellings would achieve the following minimum separation 
distances with one another:

 20 metres between opposing front elevations (e.g. between plots 77 and 80).
 15.5 metres between opposing rear elevations (e.g. between plots 84 and 83).

All the elevations mentioned above contain habitable room windows. Whilst there are a 
number of instances throughout the site where the development fails to meet the spacing 
standard between principal elevations recommended in paragraph 5.2 of the SPG (most 
notably with respect to opposing rear elevations and those between corner turners), the 
distances achieved would be compatible with the density and character of surrounding 
development encountered elsewhere on the Hollin Estate and would replicate the density 
consented as part of phase 1.  Moreover, where the lowest spacing standards are apparent in 
the case of corner properties, as these buildings have ‘triple’ aspects (front, rear and side), a 
lower degree of separation would be expected between opposing side elevations over the 
estate road than principal (front and rear) elevations. Therefore, the proposal would be 
compatible with the density and character of surrounding development in accordance with the 
objectives of the SPG, and would not result in sub-standard living conditions for future 
residents.

There is likely to be a degree of impact arising from the construction phase.  However, the site 
is accessed directly off Tintern Road and therefore, disturbance to existing neighbouring 
properties would be minimised.  Should the proposed development come forward in a phased 
format (i.e. after phase 1) then there would likely be a degree of disturbance to any occupiers 
of phase 1 of the development during the construction phase.  However, any impact would be 
very temporary in nature.

The development would be compatible with surrounding uses, both in terms of its impact upon 
those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and is 
therefore in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies H/3 and BE/2, the objectives of 
the SPG “Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” and the NPPF.

Page 37



Landscaping and trees

Paragraph 58 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should aim to ensure 
that developments:

 Are visually attractive as a result of good architecture and appropriate landscaping.

UDP policy BE/8 requires developments to incorporate landscape schemes of a high quality 
where it is necessary to:

 Retain and integrate existing trees, planting or other landscape features (including 
areas of nature conservation or value);

 Screen or soften a development from adjoining land, or to screen an adjoining use 
from the site;

 Provide visual enclosure around car parking, storage or plant areas;
 Provide a structure to the development layout to create local character and 

distinctiveness, or as a setting for individual buildings or groups of buildings;
 Protect and enhance the setting of existing individual buildings or groups of buildings.

In addition, UDP policy NE/8 (a – c) states that proposals on sites containing trees and 
woodlands should ensure:

 Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows;

 That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 
spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered;

 Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction.

The proposed layout provides for open-plan garden frontages and landscaped private gardens 
to the rear of the houses. Driveways are to be incorporated through a combination of 
elongated strips to the side of the houses and bays to the front, with strips of soft landscaping 
and/or hedges used to break up these hardstandings. The size, siting and layout of driveways, 
when considered in combination with the intervening strips of landscaping, would ensure an 
appropriate balance between areas of hard and soft landscaping within garden frontages 
which achieves satisfactory in-curtilage parking for the dwellings but avoids a bland, over-
engineered visual aspect to the highway dominated by hardstanding.  Attention been paid to 
the landscaping in order to ensure that the tree species are planted as heavy standards, 
supplemented by hedgerows and vegetation which would work to immediately break up any 
potential dominance from parking bays.  Species types have also been limited so that 
invasive, non-native species are omitted in order to protect the integrity of Hopwood Nature 
Reserve.  

The proposed development site does not result in the loss of any trees, other than the 
provision of the access which routes through phase 1.  However, the removal of trees 
associated with phase 1 has already been agreed and accepted.  Therefore, conditions for a 
landscaping scheme and the introduction of tree protection measures to protect trees which lie 
outside the site boundary during development have been recommended in this regard. 

The proposal would secure appropriate landscaping (both new and compensatory) and 
treatment of open spaces between and around buildings in accordance with the requirements 
of UDP policies BE/2, BE/8, NE/8 and the NPPF.

Highways

Page 38



Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that all developments that generate significant amounts of 
movement should be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment. Planning 
decisions should take account of whether:

 the opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up depending on 
the nature and location of the site, to reduce the need for major transport infrastructure;

 safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people; and
 improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limit 

the significant impacts of the development. Development should only be prevented or 
refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development 
are severe.

UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that:

a) Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed;

b) Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations;

c) Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and
d) Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists.

UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not:

a) Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users;
b) Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 

restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development;

c) Substantially increase congestion;
d) Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or
e) Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 

traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network.

UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure 
that:

a) Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and suitable 
for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them; and

b) Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided.

In addition, UDP policy H/3 (e) states that proposals should be compatible with surrounding 
uses, including highways, both in terms of [their] impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and BE/2 (g) requires proposals to 
facilitate safe and convenient access and circulation.

UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two 
spaces per dwelling. A note to this Appendix indicates that “parking standards for C3 [housing] 
developments are intended to result in an average, throughout the plan area of over the plan 
period, of 1.5 off-street car parking spaces per dwelling.”

Page 39



The site is located in an established residential setting which is readily accessible by modes of 
transport other than private car. Various local amenities, including shops and schools, are 
situated within walking distance of the site, which is also within comfortable walking distance 
of bus stops on Tintern Road and the busy thoroughfare of Rochdale Road. The site occupies 
a sustainable location and the development, by virtue of its nature and location, would take the 
opportunities available for use of sustainable transport modes in accordance with paragraph 
32 of the NPPF.

A total of 100 parking spaces would be provided as part of the scheme, resulting in an 
average provision of 2 spaces per dwelling across the site. This level of provision would 
exceed the standard intended in Appendix C of the UDP in accordance with the requirements 
of policy A/10. Existing waiting restrictions along Tintern Road would prevent on-street parking 
along the highway adjacent to the site, with the new estate road of a sufficient width (5.5 
metres) to accommodate any overspill parking on the highway. 

Access into the site would be via the existing opening onto Tintern Road which previously 
served the school. The new estate road (with the exception of private driveways to the head of 
three cul-de-sacs branching off the main route) would be constructed to adoptable standards, 
including 2 metre wide footways along both frontages, and would be of a width, layout and 
design (including visibility at its junction with Tintern Road) to ensure safe and convenient 
access, circulation and manoeuvring for vehicle traffic (including refuse vehicles) and 
pedestrians in accordance with UDP policies A/3 and A/9.

The application is supported by a transport statement which includes an estimation of future 
traffic flows associated with the proposed residential development. Traffic flows for the 
development are estimated using the TRICS database which is used to forecast likely trip 
generation for specific development types and, accordingly, allows analysis of the transport 
impacts of new development. The assessment concludes that, during the peak am (08:00 – 
09:00) and pm (17:00 – 18:00) periods, the development is predicted to generate in the region 
of 27 two-way trips and 30 two-way trips respectively.  In combination with phase 1, the total 
trips during those ‘peak hours’ would be less than double. It is also concluded that “traffic 
generated by the proposed development is likely to be substantially less than the previous use 
of the site [as a school]” and this applies to the cumulative impact of phase 1 and the current 
application. 

The Council’s Highways Service has however, raised concerns with regards the proximity of 
the driveways positioned slightly on the apex of the junction of a number of the proposed cul-
de-sacs.  The applicant has been made aware of these concerns and in response, they 
consider that the schemes layout broadly reflects that which was approved under phase 1.  
Having regard to the fact that flexibility is somewhat restricted on the site, and bearing in mind 
the broad accordance with phase 1, the application is therefore, not considered to represent 
substantial harm in respect of highway safety. 

The proposed development would not lead to an increased level of traffic generation which 
would cause undue congestion of the highway network, either adjacent to or further away from 
the site, and would not have a detrimental impact on road safety. Satisfactory provision for 
vehicle access and parking would be made, as would access for pedestrians. The proposal is 
therefore in compliance with the requirements of UDP policies H/3, BE/2, A/3, A/8, A/9 and 
A/10, and the NPPF.

Flood Risk

Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that “inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 
should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk”.

Page 40



UDP Policy EM/7 states that development will not be permitted in areas identified as flood 
plains, or other areas where development could contribute to increased flood risk, unless an 
appropriate flood risk assessment has been carried out and all of the following criteria are met:

 It will not increase the risk of flooding within the flood plain or in adjoining areas by 
reducing flood storage capacity, increasing flows within a flood plain or through the 
additional discharge of surface water;

 It will not itself be at risk from flooding;
 Appropriate sustainable drainage systems are used;
 Adequate access adjacent to the water course for maintenance is provided;
 Existing or proposed flood defences are protected;
 It would not result in extensive culverting; and
 Flood defence works required as a consequence of development are provided at the 

developer’s expense.

The site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less than 1 in 1000 
or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). In addition, as the site does not 
exceed 1 hectare in area, there is no requirement for the application to be accompanied by a 
Flood Risk Assessment. Nevertheless, a condition has been recommended requiring details of 
foul and surface water disposal to be approved, including a target of achieving a minimum 
30% reduction in pre-development surface water discharge rates to prevent an increased risk 
of surface water flooding in accordance with the objectives of the SFRA. Aside from the 30% 
reduction in run-off, the rate of discharge to the surface water sewer would need to be agreed 
with United Utilities. 

Therefore, adequate measures can be put in place in order to ensure that the development 
poses no unacceptable risk in terms of flooding in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policy EM/7 and the NPPF.

Ecology

Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the following 
(relevant) principles:

 if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on 
an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused;

 opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged.

UDP policy NE/3 indicates that in areas not identified as SBIs, LNRs, SSSIs, SPAs or SACs, 
the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats of ecological value 
will be taken into account in assessing proposals.

UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected by 
National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated 
that:

 There is no adverse impact on the species concerned;
 Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 

required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and

 Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation.

Page 41



Criterion (d) of UDP policy NE/8 stipulates that proposals on sites containing trees and 
woodlands should ensure:

 The nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has been 
safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species.

The land does not form part of any statutorily designated or non-designated site of nature 
conservation. The closest of these – Hopwood Woods Local Nature Reserve – lies 
immediately to the south and south east but it is separated from the site by a change in levels 
and the proposed development would have no direct impact on the Nature Reserve.

The site lies in excess of 30m of the nearest badger sett.  Therefore, there is a low risk of 
direct potential disturbance to the setts.  An assessment of the construction element of the 
proposal has concluded minimal risk from noise or vibration subject to specific construction 
techniques, which could be conditioned in the event that planning permission is granted.  
Whist the proposal would lead to the loss of over 1ha of foraging habitat, it is not considered 
that this would be detrimental to the badger population.  The Council’s ecologist has assessed 
the proposal and raises no objection subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions in 
order to protect a number of species.  

Concerns have been raised with regards the potential surface water drainage scheme in order 
to ensure that the existing watercourse, which appears to be particularly sensitive to additional 
volumes of water being added, is adequately protected.  As the scheme has not been 
finalised, a condition is recommended in this regard as it is considered that any forthcoming 
scheme could be designed to sufficiently limit the impact on ecological interests.

All other ecological matters have been properly addressed and the application is considered to 
comply with policy NE/4 and NE/8 of the UDP and the NPPF.

Contamination

The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer is satisfied that any issues which may exist on the 
site can be adequately identified and addressed by the imposition of a condition requiring the 
submission and approval of an intrusive (phase II) site investigation and implementation of any 
appropriate remediation measures required. It is therefore considered that the requirements of 
UDP policy EM/4 and guidance contained within the NPPF can be satisfactorily addressed 
through condition.

Drainage

The proposal includes a drainage attenuation scheme which is designed to limit the flow of 
water into nearby watercourses.  This will be based on a large water storage area on-site, with 
a hydro-brake in order to limit flows so it would not exceed the existing greenfield run-off rate.  
The Council’s drainage officer has assessed the scheme and requires additional detail in 
respect of the condition of the existing watercourse and the potential to reduce the impact on 
the watercourse by piping any discharge in two separate locations within the brook.  A 
condition is recommended requiring details of a drainage scheme.  This would ensure that the 
drainage officer’s comments were addressed and would also ensure that the concerns raised 
by GMEU and The Friends of Hopwood Nature Reserve were considered as part of the 
detailed design.  Subject to the imposition of a condition, the application is considered to 
comply with policy EM/7 of the UDP.

Developer Contributions

Recreational Open Space:

Page 42



UDP policy H/6 requires new housing developments to make adequate provision for 
recreational open space. There is an expectation within the policy that developments involving 
more than 100 bedrooms will make provision for open space on site, with any shortfall to be 
made up via a financial contribution towards off-site provision. 

Where off-site contributions are to be made in lieu of on-site provision, a commuted sum 
payment towards the laying out (including 20 year maintenance maintenance) and/or 
improvement of off-site recreational open space is required. Contributions to off-site 
recreational open space (comprising elements of both local open space and outdoor sports 
provision) are calculated on the basis of the number of bedrooms being created by a 
development and the resulting demand for recreational open space arising from the 
occupation of the new houses. 

It is accepted that the site does not immediately lend itself to on-site open space given its 
elongated shape.  Of more relevance in this case is the fact that the site lies adjacent to large 
areas of open space and the areas to the north of the site are to be subject to improvements 
due to the off-site contribution offered as part of phase 1.  The current application would 
require an off-site contribution to open space of £64,065 and an off-site contribution to sports 
and recreation of £70,471.  However, the applicant has submitted a viability assessment which 
concludes that the scheme would not be viable if these financial contributions were out 
forward as mitigation.  

In this case, it is considered that conflict with policy arising from the lack of open space/sports 
recreation is mitigated to some extent on the basis that the former use of the application site 
as a playing field is not a functioning area of green space, and that the Council in their 
decision to sell the land considered the playing fields surplus to requirements.  In addition, 
there is a large expanse of open space to the north of the site which is to be subject to 
significant improvements which are to be funded by the S106 contribution put forward as part 
of phase 1.

It is considered that taking a balanced view and having regard to all material circumstances, 
then more than adequate compensatory provision has been provided. A purpose built facility 
replaced the Alderman Kay School when it closed; this included the provision of a range of 
sports pitches. 

Affordable Housing:

UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD ‘Affordable Housing’ identify that, subject to viability 
appraisal, residential developments of over 15 units will be expected to make a contribution 
towards the provision of affordable housing in the borough through either on or off site means 
as appropriate.

Paragraph 7.3 and 7.4 of the SPD indicate that “an average figure of 15% Affordable Housing 
will be required on all sites across the Borough. This percentage of units will be subject to a 
discount of 50% of the average market cost of the dwellings on the site. This will equate to a 
maximum 7.5% contribution of the total scheme value to affordable housing for each site in 
accordance with the formula below:

Page 43



Viability:

Paragraph 173 of the NPPF states that:
 Pursuing sustainable development requires careful attention to viability and costs in 

plan-making and decision-taking. Plans should be deliverable. Therefore, the sites and 
the scale of development identified in the plan should not be subject to such a scale of 
obligations and policy burdens that their ability to be developed viably is threatened. To 
ensure viability, the costs of any requirements likely to be applied to development, 
such as requirements for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or 
other requirements should, when taking account of the normal cost of development 
and mitigation, provide competitive returns to a willing land owner and willing developer 
to enable the development to be deliverable.

In addition, paragraph 205 of the NPPF indicates that:
 Where obligations are being sought or revised, local planning authorities should take 

account of changes in market conditions over time and, wherever appropriate, be 
sufficiently flexible to prevent planned development being stalled.

UDP policy H/7 and its accompanying SPD (Affordable Housing) include provisions to 
limit/waive contributions in cases where such contributions would make a scheme unviable. 

The Council’s Quantity Surveyor has been consulted on the proposal.  Their comments will be 
reported to the committee as an update.

In accordance with paragraph 173 of the NPPF, it would be unreasonable to seek 
contributions from a development where such contributions would fail to provide competitive 
returns to a willing land owner and willing developer and, ultimately, make a scheme 
undeliverable. Whilst the developer is making the required off-site contribution towards 
recreational open space in accordance with UDP policy H/6, it has been adequately 
demonstrated, in accordance with the provisions of UDP policy H/7, its associated SPD and 
the NPPF, that there is insufficient justification to seek any contributions towards affordable 
housing (either on or off site), or open space/recreational sports provision as this would 
unacceptably undermine the scheme’s viability. 

There would also be a requirement for a contribution to education and there is an 
acknowledged shortage of school places in the area.  

The applicant has submitted a viability appraisal which outlines estimated build costs for the 
development (including any abnormal costs likely to be incurred during construction) and 
anticipated revenue generated from the sale of the dwellings. The appraisal concludes that, 
once completed, and without any contributions being made towards affordable housing (on or 
off site), the development is anticipated to generate a profit on Gross Development Value 
(GDV - total sales revenue) of 6.14%. This margin falls significantly below the level normally 
anticipated in order to provide a competitive return to a willing developer (typically between 
15% and 20%) and, accordingly, the developer considers that there should be no contributions 

Page 44



towards recreational open space, affordable housing or education on the grounds that these 
would made the scheme unviable.

Compliance with other planning policies

Policy H/5 of the UDP requires residential development to achieve a density of between 30-50 
dwellings per hectare.  Since this policy was adopted national guidance has been revised 
which removes the requirement to achieve a density of at least 30 dwellings per hectare.  This 
proposal would achieve a density of around 42 dwellings per hectare and therefore falls within 
the range set out within the UDP policy in any event.  

In respect of existing footpaths, the proposed development would have no direct impact on 
footpaths and there would be no requirement to divert any footpaths.

Conclusion

The proposed housing development would be built upon designated recreational open space on land 
which was previously associated and used as part of Alderman Kay School sports and recreation 
provision.  The proposal would therefore not comply with the relevant land use policy in the UDP. 
However, policies relevant to housing are classed to be out of date by the NPPF, based on the age of the 
UDP and the Councils (current) lack of a 5 year housing land supply. In such circumstances permission 
should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole; or specific 
policies in the Framework indicate development should be restricted.

The development would deliver social and economic benefits associated with the construction and 
provision of houses which would contribute towards the current deficiency in the 5 year housing supply 
and the target for the overall number of houses aimed to be built in the Borough.  Conversely, the 
proposal would result in the loss of a parcel of greenfield land and the loss of an area of recreational 
open space and this weighs against the proposed development.  The scheme also fails to provide 
affordable housing (or any off-site contribution) which undermines the social benefits otherwise 
associated with the scheme.

In respect immediately to the north of the site and the current application includes a direct link with this 
land which would afford opportunities for future residents to utilise the surrounding open space.  

The plans are assessed to be acceptable in relation to housing planning policy and design/visual and 
residential amenity considerations having regards to the Guidelines & Standards for Residential 
Development SPD (2016) and UDP policies H/3, BE/2, the Oldham and Rochdale Residential 
Design Guide.

Whilst some concerns have been raised by highways in respect of the layout, overall the proposal is 
judged acceptable on highway safety grounds taking into account UDP polices A/3, A/8, A/9 and A/10 
and the NPPF.

The proposals are considered to satisfy the relevant UDP and emerging Core Strategy policies covering 
other material considerations including flood risk, biodiversity, land stability, trees and pollution control 
issues.  In particular, potential impacts on ecological interests and the adjacent Nature Reserve could be 
mitigated by the imposition of appropriate conditions.  

The proposed development does not include any obligations to provide compensatory open space 
provision or affordable housing or education.  The scheme has been accompanied by a viability 
appraisal which is intended to demonstrate that the costs of any requirements would significant threaten 
the viability of the scheme.  The lack of open space provision is not considered to demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits of the scheme in this case.  Similarly, lack of affordable housing provision and 
education provision are not considered to constitute reasons for refusal based on the provisions of 

Page 45



paragraph 173 of the NPPF and viability.  When weighed in the balance, and in the context of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, there are no individual or cumulative adverse 
impacts which significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits in this case to indicate that 
development should be refused.

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT subject to the following conditions:-

1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date of 
this permission.

2. This permission relates to the following plans:

o Drawing no. SK351-LP-01 Rev A – Boundary plan.

o Drawing no. SK351/LP-01 – Location Plan

o Drawing no. SK351-PL-02 Rev G – Proposed planning layout.

o Drawing no. SK531-SS-02 – Proposed street scenes.

o Drawing no. DFD/TINT/L2 – Rev A – Landscaping

o Drawing no. STAM-6.0 Elevations

o Drawing no. STAM-01 Rev B

o Drawing no. STAM(UP)-01 Rev A

o Drawing no. STAM(UP)-6.0 BLK

o Drawing no. GTC-E-SS-0012_R1-8_1_of_1 - Substation

o Drawing no. WEAV-01 – The Weaver floor plans.

o Drawing no. WEAV-6.0-semi – The Weaver elevations 6.0 brick (semi).

o Drawing no. WEAV(UP)-01

o Drawing no. WEAV(UP) 3blk

o Drawing no. GRWE-01 – The Grantham/Weaver ground floor plans.

o Drawing no. GRWE-02 – The Grantham/Weaver first floor plans.

o Drawing no. GRWE-6.1-semi – The Grantham/Weaver elevations 6.1 
brick/render (semi).

o Drawing no. ELLE-01 – The Ellesmere floor plans.

o Drawing no. ELLE-6.0-semi(A) – The Ellesmere elevations 6.0 – brick (semi) 
Alt.

o Drawing no. ELLE-6.1-semi(A) – The Ellesmere elevations 6.1 brick/render 
(semi) Alt.

Page 46



o Drawing no. NSD 9800 – Single garage detached.

o Drawing no. NSD-9202 – Hooped tops metal railings.

o Drawing no. NSD 9001 – Wall types 1 to 4.

o Drawing no. NSD 9102 – Fence types A to D.

The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved 
drawings.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

3. Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no development shall be 
commenced until samples or full details of materials to be used externally on the 
building(s) have been   submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
Such details shall include the type, colour and texture of the materials. Only the 
materials so approved shall be used, in accordance with any terms of such approval.

In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity in 
accordance with Policy BE/2 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan.

4. Details of finished floor levels and external ground levels for each plot shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any 
development at that plot takes place. The development shall thereafter be 
implemented in accordance with the duly approved details.

Reason:  In order to ensure a satisfactory relationship between the new dwellings and 
between the development and surrounding buildings in the interests of residential and 
visual amenity in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
Policies H/3 and BE/2.

5. No above ground works shall take place until full details of any retaining structures to 
be erected on the site have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Such details shall include the length, height, siting and materials of 
any retaining structures, structural engineer's calculations, the amount of earth to be 
retained, the extent of excavation and infill required, the proposed finish for the surface 
of the land behind the structure, the guaranteed minimum service life of the structure 
relative to the local exposure level and a timetable for their construction. The retaining 
structures shall thereafter be constructed in accordance with the duly approved details 
and timetable.

Reason: In order to ensure that any retaining structures required due to topographical 
changes on the site are constructed to an appropriate standard with respect to their 
structural and visual form and function and to ensure a satisfactory form of 
development in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy BE/2.

6. No development shall take place until an investigation and risk assessment (in addition 
to any assessment provided with the planning application) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall investigate 
the nature and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on 
the site. The assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written 

Page 47



report of the findings submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before any development takes place. The submitted report shall include:

i)  a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination
ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:

    •  human health,
• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland, 
and service lines and pipes,

    • adjoining land,
   • groundwaters and surface waters,
    • ecological systems,
   • archaeological sites and ancient monuments;

iii) where unacceptable risks are identified, an appraisal of remedial options and 
proposal of the preferred option(s) to form a remediation strategy for the site.

The development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the duly 
approved remediation strategy and a verification report submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority before any of the dwellings hereby approved 
are first occupied. 
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 
development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Unitary Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

7. Unless alternative details have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, boundary treatments to each plot shall be erected in 
accordance with the details (including their siting, height, design, materials and finish) 
shown on drawing nos. SK351-PL-01 Rev A, NSD 9102, NSD 9001 and NSD 9202 
before the dwelling on that plot is first occupied, and shall be retained as such 
thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of the security of future occupiers, to ensure adequate levels 
of privacy between neighbouring dwellings and in the interests of visual amenity in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies H/3 and BE/2.

8. No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the disposal of foul and 
surface water from the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority, the scheme shall include:

(i) details of the rate of surface water discharge from the site to any soakaway, 
watercourse or sewer, and shall incorporate measures (including any necessary 
flow attenuation measures and the use of SUDS were appropriate) to reduce the 
existing (pre-development) rate of surface water discharge to less than the existing 
greenfield run-off rate

(ii) details of how the scheme will be maintained and managed after completion.

The scheme shall include full details of an ongoing maintenance regime associated 
with the drainage scheme.  The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the 

Page 48



duly approved details, including maintenance regime, before any of the dwellings are 
first occupied, or within any other timescale first agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the development and to 
ensure satisfactory disposal of surface water from the site in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies EM/7 and EM/8, the Council’s 
Level 2 SFRA User Guide and the National Planning Policy Framework.

9. The landscaping scheme shown on the approved plans, (drawing no DFD/TINT/L2) 
shall be carried out during the first planting season after the development is 
substantially completed.  Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, being severely damaged 
or becoming seriously diseased within five years of planting, shall be replaced by trees 
or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally requires to be planted. The 
areas which are landscaped shall be retained as landscaped areas thereafter.

Reason: In order to achieve a satisfactory level of landscaping in the interests of the 
amenities of the area in accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/8 of the Council’s 
Unitary Development Plan.

10. Before each dwelling hereby approved is first occupied a scheme for the design and 
construction (including surface treatment) of its associated parking areas shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The parking 
areas shall be constructed in accordance with the duly approved scheme before each 
associated dwelling is first occupied, and retained thereafter for the parking of vehicles.

Reason: In order to ensure there is adequate provision for vehicles to be parked clear 
of the highway and to ensure appropriate surface treatment of parking areas in the 
interests of highway safety and visual amenity in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2 and A/10, and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

11. No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the design, construction 
and drainage of the new estate road and the private driveways to the front of plots 
shown on drawing no. SK351-PL-02 Rev G, and provision for an adequate visibility 
splay at its junction with Tintern Road, has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall also include detailed provision for 
ongoing future maintenance for areas of unadopted highway. The estate road (and 
private driveways) shall be provided in accordance with the duly approved details 
following first occupation of any plot to be served by that road, except that final 
surfacing shall not take place until the final dwelling to be served by the estate road 
has been substantially completed. The areas of land falling within the approved 
visibility splay shall be kept clear of all obstructions in excess of one metre in height.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of engineering works, surface treatment 
and visibility at junctions with existing highways in order to achieve appropriate 
provision for vehicle access, circulation and manoeuvring in the interests of highway 
safety in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2, 
A/8 and A/9.

12. No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the creation of a self-
enforcing 20mph zone along the whole of the new estate road has first been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The duly approved scheme 

Page 49



shall thereafter be implemented before the final dwelling to be served by the new 
estate road is first occupied.

Reason: To ensure adequate traffic calming measures are introduced as part of the 
development in order to reduce the potential for traffic conflicts and to mitigate the 
impact of on-street parking in the interests of highway and pedestrian safety in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policies A/3, A/8, A/9 
and BE/2.

13. No development shall take place until a scheme for tree protection measures (both 
above and below ground) to be implemented during the construction period has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall thereafter be carried out in strict accordance with the protection measures 
contained within the duly approved scheme throughout the construction period.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate mitigation measures are put in place to 
safeguard trees to be retained as part of the development (both within an outside the 
site) in the interests of the amenity of the area and to ensure satisfactory landscaping 
in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies NE/8 and 
BE/8.

14. Prior to any earthworks a method statement detailing eradication and/or control and/or 
avoidance measures for Himalayan Balsam and Wall Cotoneaster should be supplied 
to and agreed in writing to the Local Planning Authority.  The agreed method statement 
shall be adhered to and implemented in full unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.

Reason:  To secure the satisfactory disposal of this invasive species of plant, which 
under the terms of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, as amended, it is an offence to 
be caused to spread in the wild, in accordance with the general principles of Policy 
NE/3 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan.

15. No development, site clearance, earth moving shall take place or material or 
machinery brought on site until a method statement to protect the ordinary water 
course flowing in to Trub Brook from accidental spillages, dust and debris has been 
supplied to and agreed by the LPA.  All measures shall be implemented and 
maintained for the duration of the construction period and thereafter, in accordance 
with the approved details.  

Reason:  In order to ensure that Trub Brook is protected from pollution arising from the 
construction of the development, in accordance with policy NE/3 of the UDP.

16. Badger mitigation measures shall be implemented in full accordance with the 
protection measures identified in the Badger Survey submitted by Appletons (Ref – 
2030).  Details of the monitoring of the badger setts identified in the report shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
commencement of development.  The monitoring of badger setts shall be carried out in 
full accordance with the approved details

Reason:  In order to ensure that badgers are properly protected in accordance with 
policy NE/3 of the UDP and the NPPF.

Page 50



17. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a Construction 
Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The 
Statement shall provide for:
- The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
- Means of access for construction traffic
- Loading and unloading of plant and materials
- Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
- The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and 

facilities for public viewing, where appropriate
- Wheel washing facilities
- Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction
- Measures to control noise levels during construction

Reason:  In the interest of highway safety, residential amenity and visual amenity and in 
accordance with policies H/3, BE/2, A/3 and A/8 of the UDP.

18. Prior to the occupation of any dwelling, full details of the footpath link and gate as shown on 
drawing no SK351-LP-01 Rev A shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.

Reason: In order to ensure the site is accessible from the surrounding areas of green space, in 
the interests of accessibility and the amenity of future occupiers and policies H/3 and BE/2 of 
the UDP.

19. Prior to the occupation of any dwelling hereby approved, a lighting scheme which shall include 
full details of any street lighting for access roads, highways and shared driveways shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved scheme prior to the occupation of any dwelling 
and retained thereafter

Reason: In the interest of good design and in order to ensure that Hopwood Nature Reserve is 
adequately protected from inappropriate light pollution in accordance with policy NE/3 of the 
UDP.

Report Author Matthew Woodward

____________________________________________

Page 51



Application Number: 16/00331/FUL    Ward: West Middleton      

Proposal: Demolition of existing garage and replace with 2 bedroom bungalow

Site Address: 194 Heywood Old Road Middleton M24 4GR  

Applicant: Mr And Mrs Barber
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions

DELEGATION SCHEME

The application has been brought to the Middleton Township Planning Sub-Committee for 
comment prior to the application being heard by the Licensing and Regulatory Committee, as 
the granting of planning permission for the scheme would be contrary to current Unitary 
Development Plan policy. 

SITE

This application relates to the rear garden of 194 Heywood Old Road in Middleton. The plot is 
occupied by a semi-detached mid-20th Century two storey dwelling, set back approximately 
10m from the highway by a driveway which provides parking for two vehicles. The house 
forms part of a linear development of 11 dwellings which run parallel to the A6045 (Heywood 

Page 52



Old Road), to the south of Saint Thomas’ Church, and which lie within an area of land 
designated as Protected Open Land on the Unitary Development Plan Proposals Map and 
therefore benefits from protection under policy D/10. 

The application property benefits from a substantial rear garden area, which extends between 
63m and 68m eastwards to the boundary with Ellis Lane. The land to the east of Ellis Lane 
comprises open agricultural fields, also designated as Protected Open Land and as a 
Greenspace Corridor (UDP Policy G/8), providing a buffer zone between the linear 
development along Heywood Old Road and the western edge of the Langley estate, bordered 
by Rowrah Crescent. The rear of the site itself already benefits from vehicular access from 
Ellis Lane and is currently occupied by a large detached garage structure, similar to those 
found within neighbouring gardens.

PROPOSAL

The application seeks permission for the demolition of the existing detached garage and the 
subsequent erection of a two bedroomed bungalow. The bungalow would be of a relatively 
simple architectural style, with a dual-pitch gable roof arrangement to a height of 2.4m at the 
eaves and 4.6m to the ridge. It would be constructed to a width of 6m (centrally positioned 
within the existing site) and a depth of 10.5m. 

Materials for construction would be sand stone quoins for the corners, a render finish, grey 
Marley Modern roof tiles, light oak fascias, soffits, frames and rainwater goods. 

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework 

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied.  

National Planning Policy Guidance

The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 
made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate.

Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 

D/10 Protected Open Land

G/H/1 Housing
H/3 Residential Developments Outside Allocated Areas
H/4 Backland Sites
H/6 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/3 New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People 
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic

Page 53



A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking 

G/BE/1 Design Quality
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development
BE/8 Landscaping in New Development

G/NE/1 Nature Conservation
NE/3 Biodiversity and Development
NE/4 Protected Species

Core Strategy:

SO2 Creating Successful and Healthy Communities
C1 Delivering the right amount of housing in the right places

SO4 Promoting a Greener Environment
G5 Managing protected open land

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY & BACKGROUND

05/D46535 Two storey rear extension to dwelling – Refused

06/D47219 Two storey rear extension to dwelling – Resubmission D46535 – 
Granted STC

07/D49983 Installation of French windows to first floor rear elevation and formation 
of parapet wall – Granted STC

PREAPP/00040/15 Conversion of garage to granny flat - Closed

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Strategic Planning – 

Recommend approval subject to assessment of access and amenity etc. Detailed response 
outlined within the below ‘Principle of Development’ section.

Highways and Engineering – No objection

This application will not impact upon the highways layout.
This application has off street parking for 2 vehicles accessed from Ellis Lane.
This development will not change Refuse Collection.
No new access to the highway will be created by this development.
This development will not have a negative impact upon the local Network Capacity.
This development will not have a negative impact upon Road Safety.
Highways Drainage will not change as a result of this development.
No Public Right of Way will be obstructed by this development.

Green Infrastructure Officer – 

Unfortunately the large willow tree in the centre of the proposal site is not suitable for 
protection under a TPO, because it is not clearly visible to the public.  However, it is a 
particularly fine specimen that provides significant screening between the existing houses and 
the proposed development.  I would like to see retained, assuming the building is not situated 
under the canopy.  If it is to be retained then I would want to see a root protection area 

Page 54



installed prior to the demolition / construction in line with BS5837 (2012) 'Trees in relation to 
Design, Demolition and Construction'.

If the tree cannot be retained then I would want to see a condition for replacement planting to 
provide screening.  I can suggest a list of alternative species if required

United Utilities –

No objection. Site should be drained on a separate system for foul and surface water. 

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit – 

Building is deemed low risk with regards to the presence of bats or nesting birds – apply 
standard informative. Standard condition required to prevent any works to trees or shrubs on 
site between March and September. 

REPRESENTATIONS

Letters of notification were sent to surrounding properties, a notice displayed in the vicinity of 
the site and an advert placed in the local press. In response, one supporting representation 
was received, as noted below:

 Fully support the application – believe it to be a well thought out plan that both 
addresses local sensitivities and the regional need for housing

 Proposed design is sympathetic to the existing views and is an intelligent use of the 
garden space – Rochdale Council should encourage developments of this nature that 
have been so well considered and has little impact to the local neighbourhood

 There has been an increasing number of thefts from outbuildings and the addition of a 
house onto Ellis Lane will provide much needed security to the area

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development 

The application site does not lie within the allocated Defined Urban Area under the Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan. Instead the location of the site is designated as Protected Open 
Land under policy D/10 of the Unitary Development Plan. The application seeks full 
permission for the demolition of the existing garage and the erection of a two bedroom 
bungalow.  The bungalow would be within the lengthy rear garden of 194 Heywood Old Road 
which extends on average around 65m to the boundary with Ellis Lane.

Since the proposal is for a residential development outside an allocated area, policy H/3 is 
relevant to the consideration of the application.  Criterion (a) of this policy requires that 
development should be on previously developed land. Therefore the initial requirement is to 
ascertain whether or not this would be considered as a ‘Greenfield’ or ‘Brownfield’ site. 

The site is within a residential garden.  NPPF defines previously developed land as follows:

Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the 
developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage 
should be developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: 
land that is or has been occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has 
been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill purposes where 
provision for restoration has been made through development control procedures; land 
in built-up areas such as private residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and 
allotments; and land that was previously-developed but where the remains of the 

Page 55



permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the landscape in the 
process of time.

The definition above suggests that residential gardens should be considered as ‘Greenfield’.  
However, the bulk of the site in question which will accommodate the new bungalow is 
currently occupied by a substantial detached garage structure. If this site were not within a 
residential garden, then a former garage site would be considered to be previously developed. 
It is therefore considered that this should be treated as a brownfield site and therefore would 
meet criterion (a) of policy H/3 of the UDP.

The proposal also appears to satisfy the other criteria set out in policy H/3. The site is 
reasonably accessible as it is served by a low frequency bus service (the 125 Middleton – 
Rhodes – Birch – Langley Circular) and the centre of Rhodes is a walkable distance away.  It 
is also compatible with surrounding built land uses which are primarily residential.  Given the 
above, the proposal would appear to satisfy policy H/3 of the UDP.  It would also satisfy policy 
C1 of the emerging Core Strategy.

Policy D/10 does not permit residential development on ‘Protected Open Land’. This policy 
effectively applies similar controls on development as would be the case if the site were in the 
Green Belt.  However, this is only a local policy and therefore does not carry the same weight 
as if the site were within the Green Belt.

Criterion (b) of the above policy states that limited infilling within an established pocket of 
housing or industry where this is in scale with the area and will not affect its character or 
surroundings will be permitted. The application proposal is for a new dwelling at the back of 
existing properties where currently no other dwellings exist. It is therefore questionable as to 
whether the form of development proposed could be classed as infilling, as it would in effect 
be extending the existing pocket of housing.  This policy is more aimed at infilling which 
implies that the current urban development would not be extended.

However, this policy must also now be considered within the context of NPPF, with particular 
regard to housing land supply and the need to adopt a positive approach in the delivery of 
sustainable development. Paragraph 215 of the NPPF makes clear that policies contained 
within ‘pre-NPPF’ plans should only be afforded due weight according to their degree of 
consistency with the Framework. 

Whilst the latest published information suggests that the Council can demonstrate a five year 
supply based on the emerging Core Strategy target, this does not preclude the promotion of 
sustainable development particularly where this can assist in delivering additional housing to 
meet local targets.

As noted above, the proposed bungalow is on a brownfield site and would have limited 
additional impact in comparison to the garage it replaces. It is therefore my view that the 
proposal does constitute sustainable development in that it maximises an existing developed 
site to deliver an additional dwelling.  This proposal would also appear to be in accordance 
with emerging Core Strategy policy G5 which does allow small scale development which is 
consistent with other plan policies.

The application site also lies within an area identified as a Minerals Safeguarding Area in the 
Greater Manchester Minerals Development Plan. However, the site is considered to be 
‘Brownfield’, having been previously developed, and the proposal would not therefore 
compromise mineral resources. 

In conclusion, taking account of policies H/3, D/10 and the guidance in NPPF, it is considered 
that the site is acceptable, in principle, for housing development.  Therefore, subject to an 
assessment of remaining matters such as design, environment, highways and amenity, the 

Page 56



recommendation of the Strategic Planning Officer is that the application be recommended for 
approval.

Location, Layout, Scale and Design

Policy BE/2 of the UDP is concerned with design criteria for new development and states that 
development proposals should demonstrate good design by ensuring that they are compatible 
with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their scale, density, height, massing, layout, 
materials, architectural style and detail and means of enclosure. The policy requires that 
schemes should create visual interest in areas lacking character and take opportunities to 
retain, enhance or create views alongside appropriate treatment of open spaces between and 
around buildings. Good design includes the retention of key natural features, including trees, 
as part of the landscaping of the site and should allow for safe and convenient access and 
circulation.

Paragraph 58 of the NPPF encourages good design by stipulating that planning policies and 
decisions should aim to ensure that developments:

 will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development;

 establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive 
and comfortable places to live, work and visit; 

 respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and 
materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation; 

 create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion.

The proposed bungalow would be of a relatively simple architectural style, with a similar 
outward appearance to the existing garage on the site and those located within the curtilages 
of the neighbouring properties.  The current garage measures 6.3m in length by 3.8m in width, 
whilst the bungalow would measure 10.5m in length by 6m in width. However, the proposed 
bungalow would be of a similar scale and size as the existing garage outbuilding at the 
neighbouring property, 192 Heywood Old Road. 

The proposed materials of sand stone quoins, rendered walls, grey Marley Modern roof tiles 
and light oak UPVC fascias, soffits, windows and doors are considered appropriate for the 
setting and would not serve to detract from the existing street scene on the south side of Ellis 
Lane, which is considered to be of limited value given the existing secure boundary 
treatments. In conclusion, the proposed bungalow is considered acceptable in appearance 
and would meet the criteria of UDP policy BE/2 and the requirement of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

Amenity Standards & Relationship with Surrounding Uses

One of the 12 principles of the NPPF is to ensure that planning decisions “always seek to 
secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future 
occupants of land and buildings”. Criterion (e) of Unitary Development Plan Policy H/3 states 
that proposed development should be compatible with surrounding uses, including highways, 
both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the 
amenity of future residents. 

Policy H/4, relating to backland sites, provides stricter criteria to ensure that:
a. Sufficient private garden space is provided for both the existing property and the 

proposed development
b. The proposal does not affect adversely the amenity of residents of adjoining dwellings 

through overlooking, overshadowing, loss of privacy or loss of daylight;

Page 57



c. The proposal achieves satisfactory access and off-street parking arrangements without 
significantly increasing noise, nuisance and disturbance to the occupants of adjoining 
properties

The surrounding uses are predominantly residential, with the neighbouring dwellings fronting 
Heywood Old Road approximately 42m in distance from the site of the proposed bungalow. 
The land to the east of the site is agricultural in use and constitutes large, open fields. 

With regard to the above policy points, a rear garden 15m in length would be provided for the 
occupants of the new bungalow property, whilst a garden length of approximately 35m would 
be retained for the occupants of 194 Heywood Old Road (with the garden being a width of 
approximately 8.5m. It is therefore considered that more than sufficient outdoor 
amenity/garden space would be provided, both for future occupants of the proposed dwelling 
and for the occupants of the host dwelling. Although the application proposes a small 
bungalow property, it is noted that the proposed habitable rooms would be of sufficient size to 
ensure an acceptable level of amenity for future occupiers.

The separation distance from to the rear elevations of the dwellings fronting Heywood Old 
Road would stand at a minimum of approximately 45m – far in excess of the required 
distances as set out within section 4.1 of the Council’s Guidelines and Standards for 
Residential Development Supplementary Planning Document (adopted June 2016). It is 
therefore not considered that the bungalow would lead to any adverse impacts by way of 
overshadowing, overbearing impact or reduction in privacy levels for the occupants of the 
nearby properties. 

The adjacent buildings within the neighbouring curtilages are all outbuildings and garages and 
do not comprise any habitable rooms – thereby removing any potential for adverse impact on 
these structures. Notwithstanding this, only one window would be installed in the side 
elevation of the bungalow, serving the kitchen, and the scheme would not therefore prejudice 
any similar development on neighbouring sites.   

Parking would be provided for two vehicles through the existing vehicular access from Ellis 
Lane. Given that this is an existing situation, with the occupiers of 194 Heywood Old Road 
being able to park their vehicles in the location, and the large separation distance to the 
nearest properties, it is not considered the vehicle movements into and out of the site at this 
location would adversely impact neighbouring occupiers. 

It is therefore considered that the scheme meets the relevant requirements of both local and 
national policy with regard to the impact on the amenity of occupiers of adjoining land and 
property and with regard to the amenity standards provided for the future occupiers of the 
bungalow, in accordance with UDP policies BE/2, H/3 and H/4 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

Access and Parking

Policy A/8 of the Unitary Development Plan states that new development will be permitted 
provided that the additional traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient 
operation of the Highway Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Proposals 
should not:

a. Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users;
b. Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 

restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development;

c. Substantially increase congestion;
d. Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or

Page 58



e. Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 
traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network.

Further to this, UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to 
facilitate safe and convenient access for general traffic including car, motorcycles and 
commercial vehicles and relative to the scale, type and location of development, the proposals 
should ensure that access points to and from premises are safe, convenient and suitable for 
the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them and access for 
emergency and service vehicles is provided.

The Council’s requirements for provision of parking are set out within policy A/10, which refers 
to the Council’s Schedule of Parking Standards – identifying maximum standards for car 
parking provision and minimum standard for cycle and motorcycle parking. 

Consultation has been carried out with the Council’s Highways Officer who has raised no 
objection. The submitted site plan indicates adequate off street parking for two vehicles, 
access from Ellis Lane, and it is noted that the highways access is an existing situation and 
therefore the development will not impact upon the highways layout. Given the scale of the 
proposal, it is not considered that it would result in a negative impact on the capacity of the 
local highway network or have a detrimental impact upon road safety. The proposal is 
therefore considered to accord with the requirements of UDP policies A/8, A/9 and A/10, along 
with the objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Ecology & Biodiversity

Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 places a duty on all 
public authorities to have regard, in the exercise of their functions, to the purpose of 
conserving biodiversity. Paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that 
the planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by 
minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, 
contributing to the Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in biodiversity.

All British bat species are fully protected through The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2010 as European Protected Species (EPS). They also receive some protection 
through inclusion in Schedule 5 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). Under 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), it is also an offence to intentionally or 
recklessly disturb a bat while it is occupying a structure or place which it uses for shelter or 
protection; or obstruct access to any structure or place which any such animal uses for shelter 
or protection.

All wild birds in the UK are protected under Section 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 
(as amended) which makes it an offence to intentionally kill, injure or take any wild bird or 
take, damage or destroy the nest (whilst being built or in use) or its eggs. Bird species listed in 
Schedule 1 of the 1981 Act, such as barn owl, receive further protection which makes it an 
offence to intentionally or recklessly disturb these species while building a nest or in, on or 
near a nest containing eggs or young; or to disturb dependent young of such a bird.

Policy NE/3 of the Unitary Development Plan states that the effect of land use changes on 
existing features, species and habitats of ecological value should be taken into account in 
assessing proposals. Policy NE/4 of the UDP states that development proposals which would 
affect a species protected by National or European law or its habitat, will not be permitted 
unless it can be demonstrate that:

a. There is no adverse impact on the species concerned;
b. Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 

required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and

Page 59



c. Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation.

The applicant has submitted an ecology survey in support of the application which concludes 
that the existing building on site can be demolished with ‘extremely low risk’ to roosting bats 
and nesting birds. Consultation has been carried out with the Greater Manchester Ecology 
Unit who have noted that the building is low risk and as such raise no objection the demolition 
and subsequent replacement with the proposed bungalow, subject to a standard condition 
being attached to prevent any clearing of shrubs and trees between March and September 
and a standard informative being attached to inform the applicant of their responsibilities 
regarding protected species. 

Other Matters

The garden area is currently host to an attractive, mature Willow tree, which both contributes 
to the visual amenity of the area and forms a natural screen between the proposed bungalow 
and the adjacent properties fronting Heywood Old Road. Consultation has been carried out 
with the Council’s Green Infrastructure Officer who notes that unfortunately the Willow is not 
suitable for protection under a Tree Preservation Order, because it is not clearly visible to the 
public. They recommend, however, that the tree be retained and protected. A condition is 
therefore recommended to be attached to the permission requiring protective fencing and a 
root protection area to be utilised during the construction works in accordance with BS5837 
(2012) 'Trees in relation to Design, Demolition and Construction'.

The application proposes that the site be drained by separate systems for foul and surface 
water – specifically a septic tank for the disposal of foul sewage (which would be sited within 
the front curtilage of the proposed bungalow) and the use of a soakaway for the disposal of 
surface water. No objection has been raised by United Utilities to the above, or by the 
Council’s drainage engineer.

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT subject to the conditions:-

1 The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date of 
this permission.

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended).

 2 This permission relates to the following plans:- 

- Proposed Bungalow Elevations and Floorplan Sheet 1 of 2
- Location and Site Plan Sheet 2 of 2

and the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with these drawings 
hereby approved.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the adopted Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

3 Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no above ground 
construction works shall take place until samples and / or full specifications of materials 
to be used externally on the building(s) have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the type, colour and texture 

Page 60



of the materials. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
in accordance with Policy BE/2 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

4 No development shall take place until an investigation and risk assessment (in addition 
to any assessment provided with the planning application) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall investigate 
the nature and extent of any contamination on the site (whether or not it originates on 
the site). The assessment shall be undertaken by competent persons and a written 
report of the findings submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before any development takes place. 

The submitted report shall include:

i)  a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination

ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:
     
 human health,
 property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 

woodland, and service lines and pipes,
 adjoining land,            
 groundwaters and surface waters,
 ecological systems,
 archaeological sites and ancient monuments;

iii) where unacceptable risks are identified, an appraisal of remedial options and 
proposal of the preferred option(s) to form a remediation strategy for the site.

The development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the duly 
approved remediation strategy and a verification report submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority before any of the building(s) hereby approved 
are first occupied. 

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 
development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Policies EM/2 and EM/4 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

5 No part of the development shall be occupied until details of the type, siting, design 
and materials to be used in the construction of boundaries, screens or retaining walls 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and 
the approved structures have been erected in accordance with the approved details. 
The structures shall thereafter be retained.  

Reason: In the interests of amenity and in compliance with Policy BE/2 of the adopted 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

6 No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for (or during the course of) 
development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March - August inclusive) 
unless an ecological survey has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority to establish whether the site is utilised for bird nesting. Should 
the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no development shall take 

Page 61



place during the period specified above unless a mitigation strategy has first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority which provides for 
the protection of nesting birds during the period of works on site.

Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance with 
Policies NE/3 and NE/4 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

7 No development or works of site preparation shall take place until the willow tree to be 
retained within the site has been enclosed with temporary protective fencing to form a 
root protection area in accordance with BS:5837:2012 'Trees in relation to design, 
demolition and construction. Recommendations'. The fencing shall be retained 
throughout the period of construction and no activity prohibited by BS:5837:2012 shall 
take place within such protective fencing during the construction period.

Reason: In order to protect the existing trees on the site in the interests of the 
amenities of the area and in accordance with Policies NE/7 and NE/8 of the adopted 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

8 The site shall be drained via separate systems for the disposal of foul and surface 
water.

Reason: To secure a satisfactory system of drainage and to prevent pollution of the 
water environment in accordance with Policies EM/7 and EM/8 of the adopted 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

9 Within 3 months of the commencement of development, details of the construction and 
design of a refuse recycling/bin store(s) shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The duly approved facility shall be provided and made 
available for use before the first occupation of any dwelling relevant to that facility and 
the approved facility retained thereafter.

Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory facilities for the storage of refuse and 
in the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policy BE/2 of the Council's 
Unitary Development Plan.

10 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), or any equivalent Order following 
the revocation and re-enactment thereof, the dwelling hereby approved shall not be 
altered or extended, and no buildings or structure shall be erected within their curtilage 
under Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, B, C, D, E and F of the above Order except with 
the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To prevent overdevelopment in Protected Open Land in accordance with the 
objectives of Policies G/D/2 and D/10 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development 
Plan.

Report Author David Allen

____________________________________________

Page 62


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	3 Submitted Planning Applications

